# Heat Kernels and Besov Spaces on Metric Measure Spaces

Jun Cao and Alexander Grigor'yan

**Abstract.** Let  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  be a metric measure space satisfying the volume doubling condition. Assume also that  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  supports a heat kernel satisfying the upper and lower Gaussian bounds. We study the problem of identity of two families of Besov spaces  $B_{p,q}^s$  and  $B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}}$ , where the former one is defined using purely the metric measure structure of M, while the latter one is defined by means of the heat semigroup associated with the heat kernel. We prove that the identity  $B_{p,q}^s = B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}}$  holds for a range of parameters p, q, s given by some Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev-Kato diagram.

# Contents

1	Intro	oduction	1			
	1.1	Motivation and background	1			
	1.2	Setup and main results	3			
2	Wav	elet characterizations	7			
	2.1	Wavelets on metric measure space	7			
	2.2	Homogeneous function spaces and their wavelet characterizations	10			
	2.3	Proofs of Theorems 2.11 and 2.12	14			
3	Real	and complex interpolations	20			
	3.1	Preliminaries on interpolation	20			
	3.2	Interpolations of Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces	23			
	3.3	Interpolations at the endpoint case	26			
4	Proofs of main results					
	4.1	The Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev-Kato estimates	31			
	4.2	Proofs of Theorems 1.2 and 1.3	34			

## **1** Introduction

### 1.1 Motivation and background

This work is devoted to the notion of Besov spaces in the setting of metric measure spaces. It is customary to use various scales of function spaces, in particular, Besov spaces  $B_{p,q}^s$ , in order to measure the degree of smoothness of functions. Introduction of the Besov spaces in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  was motivated

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary: 35K08; Secondary: 46E35, 42B35, 42C40, 46B70.

*Key words and phrases.* Heat kernel, metric measure space, Besov space, Triebel-Lizorkin space, wavelet, interpolation. Jun Cao was supported by the NNSF of China (Grant Nos. 11771446 and 11871254) and the China Scholarship Council (No. 201708330186). Alexander Grigor'yan was supported by SFB1283 of the German Research Foundation.

by the imbedding and extension problems [8]. Besides, the interpolation of Sobolev spaces leads also to Besov spaces. For the theory of Besov spaces in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  there is an extensive literature, see, for example, [4, 15, 42, 44, 45, 46, 47, 50].

In a general metric measure space there are various natural ways to define the family of Besov spaces. One possibility is to use directly the metric and measure of the underlying space in order to define the Besov seminorm (see (1.8) and (1.9a) below). The function spaces obtained in this way are called *Lipschitz type Besov spaces* and are denoted by  $B_{p,q}^s$ . Another possibility to define the Besov seminorm arises in the presence of a heat semigroup  $e^{-t\mathcal{L}}$  with the generator  $\mathcal{L}$  acting in  $L^2$  (see (1.10) and (1.11a) below). We refer to such spaces as  $B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}}$ .

The Lipschitz type Besov spaces were considered in [18, 20, 21, 34, 38, 40, 43, 49]) while the spaces  $B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}}$  were dealt with in [9, 10, 17, 28, 29, 33, 36]. For other definitions of Besov spaces, we refer the reader to [1, 2, 3, 25, 27, 35, 48].

Jonsson [32] introduced the spaces  $B_{p,q}^s$  on the Sierpiński gasket and proved that the domain of the associated Dirichlet form coincides with  $B_{2,\infty}^{\beta/2}$ , where  $\beta$  is the walk dimension (see also [20, 21] for an extension of this result to general metric measure spaces). Hu and Zähle [29] proved that, in the setting of metric measure spaces,  $B_{2,2}^{s,\mathcal{L}}$  coincides with some Bessel potential space  $H_2^s$ .

In 2010 Pietruska-Pałuba raised in [41] the following question:

Under what conditions the two spaces  $B_{p,q}^s$  and  $B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}}$  are identical? This question has attracted a lot of attention. In  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with  $\mathcal{L} = -\Delta$ , the identity

$$B_{p,q}^s = B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}} \tag{1.1}$$

has been known for long time for all  $p, q \in (1, \infty)$  and  $s \in (0, 1)$  (see [45, 46]). However, in the case when  $\mathcal{L} = -\operatorname{div}(A\nabla)$  is a uniformly elliptic operator in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with real symmetric measurable coefficients, the identity (1.1) can be only guaranteed when  $(\frac{1}{p}, s)$  lies in certain convex polygon (shaded area on Fig.1), while  $q \in (1, \infty)$  is any (see [11] for the details).



Figure 1: the range for p and s for  $\mathcal{L} = -\operatorname{div}(A\nabla)$ 

Here  $\Theta \in (0, 1)$  is the Hölder exponent of the heat kernel as is described in (1.7) below, and  $\sigma > 2$  is determined by the range of  $p \in (1, \infty)$  such that the Riesz transform associated with  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $L^p$  bounded.

Hu and Zähle [29] proved the identity (1.1) on metric measure spaces for p = q = 2 and for all  $s \in (0, 1)$  assuming that the heat semigroup  $e^{-t\mathcal{L}}$  has the heat kernel satisfying certain upper and lower bounds (see also [41] for a similar result).

It was shown later in [22] that, under similar hypothesis, (1.1) holds for all  $p, q \in (1, \infty)$  and  $s \in (0, \Theta)$  (see also [49] for some similar results in the setting of RD-space). On Fig. 2, the range of the parameters p and s is shown for which (1.1) is true according to [22, 29, 41, 49].



In the present paper we study the aforementioned problem in the setting of metric measure spaces, under the hypothesis that the heat kernel satisfies Gaussian upper and lower bounds. Our main result, Theorem 1.2, says that (1.1) holds for any  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and any  $(\frac{1}{p}, s)$  lying in a Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev-Kato diagram  $\mathcal{P}(\Theta)$  as shown on Fig. 3, which clearly significantly enlarges the domain of

*p*, *s* from Fig. 2. Besides, we prove in Theorem 1.3 that the identity (1.1) is true for the full range  $(\frac{1}{p}, s) \in (0, 1)^2$ , provided a further assumption on the domain of the square root of  $\mathcal{L}$  in the  $L^p$  scale is satisfied.

Our proofs use completely new techniques based on wavelets with almost Lipschitz continuity. Such wavelets were constructed in [6, 31] merely from the metric structure of the underlying space. We use the wavelets to determine the interpolation spaces of certain Lipschitz type function spaces, which together with the hypothesis about the heat kernel estimates enables us to prove some Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev-Kato estimates associated with  $\mathcal{L}$ . These estimates finally give us the range of the parameters p, s ensuring the validity of (1.1).

This paper is organized as follows. In Section 1.2, we state the main results of this paper: Theorems 1.2 and 1.3 as well as introduce some necessary notions and notation. In Section 2, we give the wavelet characterizations of the Lipschitz-type function spaces. In Section 3, we establish the real and complex interpolations of those spaces. Finally, in Section 4, we prove Theorems 1.2 and 1.3.

### **1.2** Setup and main results

Let  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  be a locally compact complete separable metric measure space, where  $\rho$  is a metric and  $\mu$  is a nonnegative Radon measure with full support on M. We say that  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  satisfies *volume doubling* (**VD**) if for any  $x \in M$  and  $r \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$\mu(B(x,2r)) \le C_0 \mu(B(x,r)), \tag{1.2}$$

where  $B(x, r) := \{y \in M : \rho(y, x) < r\}$  denotes the open ball centered at *x* of radius *r* and  $C_0 > 1$  is a positive constant independent of *x* and *r*. It is easy to see that the condition (**VD**) implies that, for all

 $x \in M, r \in (0, \infty)$  and  $\lambda \in (1, \infty)$ ,

$$\mu(B(x,\lambda r)) \le C_0 \lambda^d \mu(B(x,r)), \tag{1.3}$$

where  $d := \log_2 C_0 > 0$ . For any  $p \in [1, \infty]$ , consider the Lebesgue space  $L^p(M) := L^p(M, \mu)$ . To conduct a smoothness analysis on  $(M, \rho, \mu)$ , we use the notion of a heat kernel.

**Definition 1.1** ([20]). A family  $\{p_t\}_{t>0}$  of  $\mu \otimes \mu$ -measurable functions on  $M \times M$  is called a *heat kernel* if the following conditions are satisfied for  $\mu$ -almost all  $x, y \in M$  and all s, t > 0:

- (i) Positivity:  $p_t(x, y) \ge 0$ .
- (ii) Stochastic completeness:  $\int_M p_t(x, y) d\mu(y) \equiv 1$ .
- (iii) Symmetry:  $p_t(x, y) = p_t(y, x)$ .
- (iv) Semigroup property:  $p_{t+s}(x, y) = \int_M p_s(x, z) p_t(z, y) d\mu(y)$ .
- (v) Approximation of identity: for any  $f \in L^2(M)$ ,

$$\lim_{t\to 0_+} \int_M p_t(\cdot, y) f(y) \, d\mu(y) = f$$

in  $L^2(M)$ .

In many occasions, a heat kernel appears as the integral kernel of a heat semigroup  $\{P_t\}_{t\geq 0}$  that is associated with a regular Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  in  $L^2(M)$  (see [16]). Conversely, given a heat kernel  $\{p_t\}_{t>0}$  as in Definition 1.1, one constructs an associated heat semigroup  $\{P_t\}_{t\geq 0}$  acting on  $L^2(M)$  by

$$P_t f(x) := \int_M p_t(x, y) f(y) \, d\mu(y)$$
(1.4)

for any  $f \in L^2(M)$ ,  $t \in (0, \infty)$  and  $\mu$ -almost all  $x \in M$ , and  $P_0 f = f$ . Denote by  $\mathcal{L}$  be the generator of  $\{P_t\}_{t\geq 0}$  so that  $P_t = e^{-t\mathcal{L}}$ .

The metric measure space  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  is said to satisfy the *Gaussian bounds* (**GB**) if there exists a heat kernel  $\{p_t\}_{t>0}$  on  $M \times M$  such that

$$\frac{1}{C_1 t^{d/2}} \exp\left\{-\frac{c_0 \rho(x, y)^2}{t}\right\} \le p_t(x, y) \le \frac{C_1}{t^{d/2}} \exp\left\{-\frac{c_1 \rho(x, y)^2}{t}\right\}$$
(1.5)

for  $\mu$ -almost all  $x, y \in M$  and any  $t \in (0, \infty)$ , where  $C_1, d, c_0$  and  $c_2$  are positive constants that are independent of x, y and t.

For example, the classical Gaussian-Weierstrass heat kernel in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ 

$$p_t(x,y) = \frac{1}{(4\pi t)^{d/2}} \exp\left\{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{4t}\right\}$$
(1.6)

is associated with the Dirichlet form

$$\mathcal{E}(f,f) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\nabla f|^2 \, dx$$

with domain  $\mathcal{F} = W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and its generator is  $-\Delta$ , where  $\Delta$  is the Laplace operator. Clearly, (1.6) satisfies **(GB)**.

The condition (GB) implies the following two conditions:

(i) the volume regularity: for any  $x \in M$  and  $r \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$\mu(B(x,r))\simeq r^d,$$

where the implicit constants are independent of x and r (see [20, Theorem 3.1]). In this case, it is easy to see (**VD**) is true and  $\mu(M) = \infty$ ;

(ii) the Hölder regularity: the heat kernel  $\{p_t\}_{t>0}$  satisfies the estimate

$$\left| p_t(x, y) - p_t(x, y') \right| \le C_2 \left( \frac{\rho(y, y')}{\sqrt{t}} \right)^{\Theta} \frac{1}{t^{d/2}} \exp\left\{ -\frac{c_2 [\rho(y, y')]^2}{t} \right\}$$
(1.7)

for any  $t \in (0, \infty)$  and all  $x, y, y' \in M$  such that  $\rho(y, y') \leq \sqrt{t}$ , where the constants  $\Theta$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $c_2$  are positive and depend only on M; besides  $\Theta \in (0, 1)$  (see [23]).

Now let  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  be a metric measure space satisfying **(VD)**. We introduce the *Lipschitz Besov* space  $B_{p,q}^s$  for any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (0, \infty)$  by

$$B_{p,q}^{s} := \left\{ f \in L^{p}(M) : \|f\|_{B_{p,q}^{s}} := \|f\|_{L^{p}} + \|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}} < \infty \right\},$$
(1.8)

where

$$||f||_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}} := \left\{ \int_{0}^{\infty} r^{-sq} \left[ \int_{M} \oint_{B(x,r)} |f(x) - f(y)|^{p} \, d\mu(y) \, d\mu(x) \right]^{q/p} \, \frac{dr}{r} \right\}^{1/q}$$
(1.9a)

with the usual modification when  $q = \infty$ . Here and hearafter,

$$\int_B := \frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int_B$$

denotes the integral mean over the set *B*.

Note that this definition of  $B_{p,q}^s$  does not depend on the operator  $\mathcal{L}$  or the heat kernel.

On the other hand, let  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  be a metric measure space satisfying **(GB)**. We introduce the *heat* Besov space  $B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}}$  for any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty)$  and  $s \in [0, \infty)$  by

$$B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}} := \left\{ f \in L^p(M) : \ \|f\|_{B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}}} := \|f\|_{L^p} + \|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}}} < \infty \right\},\tag{1.10}$$

where

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s,\mathcal{L}}_{p,q}} := \left\{ \int_0^\infty \left[ t^{-s/2} \left\| (t\mathcal{L})^k e^{-t\mathcal{L}} f \right\|_{L^p} \right]^q \frac{dt}{t} \right\}^{1/q}$$
(1.11a)

with some  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \cap (s/2, \infty)$  and we make the usual modification when  $q = \infty$ . As it was pointed out in [22, Proposition 2.9] (see also [33, Theorem 6.1]), the norms  $\|\cdot\|_{B^{s,\mathcal{L}}_{p,q}}$  in (1.10) are equivalent for different choices of  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \cap (s/2, \infty)$ , so that the space  $B^{s,\mathcal{L}}_{p,q}$  does not depend on k. Both  $B^s_{p,q}$  and  $B^{s,\mathcal{L}}_{p,q}$  are Banach spaces. We refer to [22, 33, 49] for further properties of these spaces.

We use the Hölder exponent  $\Theta \in (0, 1)$  from (1.7) in order to define the following domain

$$\mathcal{P}(\mathbf{\Theta}) := \left\{ \left(\frac{1}{p}, s\right) \in (0, 1) \times (0, 1) : \frac{1}{p} \in \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} (0, 1), & s \in (0, \Theta), \\ (\frac{s-\Theta}{2(1-\Theta)}, \frac{2-s-\Theta}{2(1-\Theta)}), & s \in [\Theta, 1) \end{array} \right\}$$
(1.12)

that is a convex polygon in the  $(\frac{1}{p}, s)$ -plane as illustrated on Fig. 3. Following the terminology in [5], we refer to  $\mathcal{P}(\Theta)$  as a *Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev-Kato diagram*.

Our main result is stated in the next theorem.

**Theorem 1.2.** Let  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  be a metric measure space satisfying (**GB**), and let  $\mathcal{P}(\Theta)$  be as on Fig. 3 (see also (1.12)). Then, for any  $(1/p, s) \in \mathcal{P}(\Theta)$  and  $q \in (1, \infty]$ , we have the identity

$$B_{p,q}^{s} = B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}}.$$
 (1.13)

For the proof of Theorem 1.2 we use the same strategy that we employed in [11] in the setting of elliptic operators in Euclidean spaces. For that, we first consider the corresponding question for Triebel-Lizorkin spaces at the endpoint values s = 1 and  $s < \Theta$ , and use interpolation to produce the desired range of parameters. However, unlike the Euclidean setting, in the present abstract setting there is no interpolation theory for Lipschitz-type function spaces. To overcome this difficulty, we apply the technique of wavelets that enables us to establish the desired interpolation. The wavelets on metric measure spaces were constructed by Hytönen and Tapiola [31]. The almost Lipschitz regularity of these wavelets is essential in Theorem 1.2 – this allows to extend the range of the parameter *s* from  $s \in (0, \Theta)$  as in [22] to  $s \in (0, 1)$ .

Another difficulty in the metric measure setting occurs at the endpoint s = 1, which is related to the domain of the square root  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$  of the generator  $\mathcal{L}$ . Recall that, for any  $p \in (1, \infty)$  and  $s \in (0, 1]$ , the domain of the fractional power  $\mathcal{L}^{s/2}$  of  $\mathcal{L}$  in the space  $L^p$  is defined to be the space

$$\operatorname{dom}_{p}(\mathcal{L}^{s/2}) := \left\{ f \in L^{p} : \mathcal{L}^{s/2} f \in L^{p} \right\}$$
(1.14)

endowed with the norm

$$\|f\|_{\operatorname{dom}_{p}(\mathcal{L}^{s/2})} := \|f\|_{L^{p}} + \left\|\mathcal{L}^{s/2}f\right\|_{L^{p}}.$$
(1.15)

Recall that the fractional power  $\mathcal{L}^{s/2}$  is defined via the functional calculus (see, for example, [24]). In the Euclidean case with  $\mathcal{L} = -\text{div}(A\nabla)$ , we usually have

$$\operatorname{dom}_{p}(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}) = W^{1,p}$$

for any  $p \in (1, \sigma)$  with  $\sigma > 2$  depending on  $\mathcal{L}$  (see Figure 1), where  $W^{1,p}$  is the classical Sobolev space (see [5, Theorem 4.15]). However, in general metric measure spaces, we only have

$$\operatorname{dom}_2(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}) = B^1_{2,\infty}$$

see [20, Theorem 5.1]. Let us emphasize that the aforementioned difference in the characterizations of the domain of  $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$  leads to the difference in the ranges of the parameters on Fig. 1 and Fig. 2.

To obtain the full range of parameters for the identity (1.13), we introduce the following condition for the characterization of dom<sub>*p*</sub>( $\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$ ).

(**DF**). dom<sub>p</sub>(
$$\mathcal{L}^{1/2}$$
) =  $B_{p,\infty}^1$  for any  $p \in (1,\infty)$ .

The condition (**DF**) holds true if  $M = \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\mathcal{L} = \Delta$  is the Laplace operator. In the general setting of metric measure space  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  satisfying (**GB**), let  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  be the Dirichlet form with the generator  $\mathcal{L}$ . It was proved in [2, Corollary 4.10] that the condition (**DF**) holds provided  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is strongly local, regular, and satisfies some strong Bakry-Émery curvature condition. On the other hand, there exist examples of manifolds and graphs where (**DF**) is not satisfied for any  $p \neq 2$  (see [12, Theorem 5.1]).

Under Assumption (**DF**), the next theorem establishes the identity (1.1) for the full range of parameters.

**Theorem 1.3.** Let  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  be the metric measure space satisfying (**GB**) and (**DF**). Then, for all  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (0, 1)$ , we have

$$B_{p,q}^s = B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}}.$$

**Acknowledgement.** This work was done during a stay of the first author at the University of Bielefeld in 2017-2019. He would like to thank this university for the hospitality.

**Notation.** Let  $\mathbb{N} := \{1, 2, ...\}$  and  $\mathbb{Z}_+ := \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ . For any subset  $E \subset M$ ,  $\mathbf{1}_E$  denotes its *characteristic function*. We use *C* to denote a *positive constant* that is independent of the main parameters involved, whose value may differ on each occurrence. On the contrary, the constants with subscripts, such as  $C_1$ , keep the same value during the argument. For any function *f* on *M*, let  $\mathcal{M}(f)$  be its *Hardy-Littlewood maximal function* defined by for any  $x \in M$  by

$$\mathcal{M}(f)(x) := \sup_{B \ni x} \frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int_{B} |f(y)| \, dy, \tag{1.16}$$

where the supremum is taken over all the balls in *M* containing *x*. For nonnegative functions *f*, *g*, we write  $f \leq g$  if  $f \leq Cg$  in a specified range, for some constant *C*. We write  $f \simeq g$  if  $f \leq g \leq f$ .

## 2 Wavelet characterizations

The wavelets on a metric measure space are certain functions with "good" properties that serve as basic bricks to build objects with more complicated structures. Usually, the wavelets form an orthonormal basis in  $L^2(M)$  provided  $\mu(M) = \infty$ . The latter condition will be always assumed throughout the paper. Note that if  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  satisfies (**GB**), then  $\mu(M) = \infty$ .

The aim of this section is to establish the wavelet characterizations of the homogeneous Lipschitztype function spaces. In Section 2.1 we review some basic properties of wavelets on metric measure spaces. In Section 2.2, we define the homogeneous Lipschitz-type function spaces and state their wavelet characterizations. Finally, in Section 2.3, we prove these wavelet characterizations.

### 2.1 Wavelets on metric measure space

Let  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  be a metric measure space satisfying **(VD)**. The following definition of dyadic points is taken from [31]; this is a collection of reference points in *M* endowed with a partial order (see also [6, 13, 30]).

**Definition 2.1.** Let  $\delta \in (0, 1)$  and  $\{\mathcal{A}_k := \{x_{k,\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}_k}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$  be a sequence of points in M where  $\mathcal{I}_k$  is a countable index set. The family  $\{\mathcal{A}_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$  is called *a sequence of dyadic points* if  $\mathcal{A}_k \subset \mathcal{A}_{k+1}$  and if it satisfies the following two properties:

- (I)  $\mathcal{A}_k$  is a maximal set of  $\delta^k$ -separated points for any  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , namely, for any  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{I}_k$ ,
  - (I-1)  $\rho(x_{k,\alpha}, x_{k,\beta}) \ge \delta^k$  for any  $\alpha \neq \beta$ ,
  - (I-2)  $\min_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}_k} \rho(x, x_{k,\alpha}) < \delta^k$  for any  $x \in M$ ;
- (II) let  $\mathcal{K} := \{(k, \alpha) : k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in I_k\}$  be the parameter set associated with the dyadic points  $\{\mathcal{A}_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ . There exists a *partial order*  $\leq$  in  $\mathcal{K}$  such that for any  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $r_k \in [\frac{1}{4}\delta^k, \frac{1}{2}\delta^k]$ ,

- (II-1) if  $x_{k+1,\beta} \in B(x_{k,\alpha}, r_k)$ , then  $(k + 1, \beta) \leq (k, \alpha)$ ;
- (II-2) if  $(k + 1, \beta) \leq (k, \alpha)$ , then  $x_{k+1,\alpha} \in B(x_{k,\alpha}, 4r_k)$ ;
- (II-3) for every  $(k + 1, \beta)$ , there exists exactly one  $(k, \alpha)$ , called its *parent*, such that  $(k + 1, \beta) \le (k, \alpha)$ ;
- (II-4) for every  $(k, \alpha)$ , there are between one and  $N_0$  pairs  $(k + 1, \beta)$ , called its *children*, such that  $(k + 1, \beta) \le (k, \alpha)$ . Here,  $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  depends only on the doubling constant  $C_0$  in (1.2);
- (II-5)  $(l,\beta) \le (k,\alpha)$  if and only if  $l \ge k$  and there exists a chain of ordered pairs  $(j + 1, \gamma_{j+1}) \le (j,\gamma_j)$  for j = k, k + 1, ..., l 1 with  $\gamma_k = \alpha$  and  $\gamma_l = \beta$ . In this case, we called  $(l,\beta)$  and  $(k,\alpha)$  are one another's *descendant* and *ancestor*, respectively.

The dyadic points lead to the following definition of dyadic cubes in M that are the analogues of the dyadic cubes in the Euclidean space.

**Definition 2.2.** Let  $\delta \in (0, 1)$  and  $\{\mathcal{A}_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$  be a sequence of dyadic points in  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  as in Definition 2.1. A collection of open sets  $\{Q_{k,\alpha}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in \mathcal{I}_k} \subset M$  is called *a system of (open) dyadic cubes associated with*  $\{\mathcal{A}_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$  if for any  $k, l \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{I}_k$ ,

- (i)  $M = \bigcup_{\alpha} \bar{Q}_{k,\alpha}$ , where  $\bar{Q}_{k,\alpha}$  denotes the closure of  $Q_{k,\alpha}$ ;
- (ii)  $\bar{Q}_{k,\alpha} \cap Q_{k,\beta} = \emptyset$  when  $\alpha \neq \beta$ ;
- (iii)  $B(x_{k,\alpha}, \frac{1}{5}\delta^k) \subset Q_{k,\alpha} \subset \overline{Q}_{k,\alpha} \subset B(x_{k,\alpha}, 3\delta^k);$
- (iv)  $\bar{Q}_{k,\alpha} = \bigcup_{\beta:(l,\beta) \le (k,\alpha)} \bar{Q}_{l,\beta}$  for any  $l \ge k$ .

Based on the notion of dyadic cubes, the following definition of wavelets was introduced in [31, Definition 6.9].

**Definition 2.3.** Let  $\delta \in (0, 1)$ ,  $\eta \in [0, 1]$  and  $\{Q_{k,\alpha}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in I_k}$  be a system of dyadic cubes associated with the dyadic points  $\{\mathcal{A}_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$  as in Definition 2.2. For any  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , let  $\mathcal{J}_k := I_{k+1} \setminus I_k$ . A set of real-valued functions  $\{\psi_{k,\alpha}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k}$  on M is called *a basis of wavelets with exp-localization and Hölder-continuous of order*  $\eta$ , if the following properties are satisfied for any  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k$ :

- (i) (vanishing mean)  $\int_{M} \psi_{k,\alpha}(x) d\mu(x) = 0;$
- (ii) (localization) for any  $x \in M$ ,

$$\left|\psi_{k,\alpha}(x)\right| \le \frac{C_3}{\sqrt{\mu(B(x_{k,\alpha},\delta^k))}} \exp\left\{-\frac{\rho(x,x_{k,\alpha})}{\delta^k}\right\},\tag{2.1}$$

where  $\{x_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha}$  are the dyadic points as in Definition 2.1 and the constant  $C_3 > 0$  is independent of *x*, *k* and  $\alpha$ ;

(iii) (Hölder continuity) for any  $x, y \in M$ ,

$$\left|\psi_{k,\alpha}(x) - \psi_{k,\alpha}(y)\right| \le \frac{C_4}{\sqrt{\mu(B(x_{k,\alpha},\delta^k))}} \exp\left\{-\frac{\rho(x,x_{k,\alpha})}{\delta^k}\right\} \left(\frac{\rho(x,y)}{\delta^k}\right)^{\eta},\tag{2.2}$$

where the constant  $C_4 > 0$  is independent of x, y, k and  $\alpha$ ;

(iv) (orthonormal basis) the functions  $\{\psi_{k,\alpha}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z},\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k}$  form an orthonormal basis of  $L^2(M,\mu)$ .

The existence of the wavelets satisfying Definition 2.3 is proved in [31, Corollary 6.13].

**Proposition 2.4** ([31]). Let  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  satisfy (**VD**). For any  $\eta \in (0, 1)$ , there exist  $\delta \in (0, 1)$  small enough and a basis of wavelets  $\{\psi_{k,\alpha}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k}$  associated with a system of dyadic cubes  $\{Q_{k,\alpha}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k}$  such that  $\{\psi_{k,\alpha}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k}$  is exp-localization and Hölder-continuous of order  $\eta$ .

**Remark 2.5.** Let  $p \in (1, \infty)$ . The wavelets  $\{\psi_{k,\alpha}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k}$  also form an unconditional basis of the space  $L^p(M) = L^p(M, \mu)$  (see [6, Corollary 10.2]). This implies that any  $f \in L^p(M)$  has the following wavelet expansion in  $L^p(M)$ :

$$f = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \langle f, \psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle \psi_{k,\alpha} .$$
(2.3)

The wavelet expansion (2.3) can be extended from  $L^p(M)$  to a larger class of distributions on M. For that let us recall the definition of test functions and distributions from [26, 27].

**Definition 2.6.** Let  $\eta \in (0, 1)$  be as in Definition 2.3. A function  $\varphi : M \to \mathbb{R}$  is said to be in the *test* function class  $\mathcal{G}(x_0, r, \beta, \gamma)$  for some  $x_0 \in M, r \in (0, \infty), \beta \in (0, \eta]$  and  $\gamma \in (0, \infty)$ , if the following three assertions hold:

(i) for any  $x \in M$ ,

$$|\varphi(x)| \le \frac{C}{V_r(x_0) + V(x_0, x)} \left(\frac{r}{r + \rho(x_0, x)}\right)^{\gamma},$$
(2.4)

where  $V_r(x_0) := \mu(B(x_0, r)), V(x_0, x) := \mu(B(x_0, \rho(x_0, x)))$  and the positive *C* is independent of *x*;

(ii) for any  $x, y \in M$  satisfying  $\rho(x, y) \leq \frac{1}{2}(r + \rho(x_0, x))$ ,

$$|\varphi(x) - \varphi(y)| \le \frac{C}{V_r(x_0) + V(x_0, x)} \left(\frac{r}{r + \rho(x_0, x)}\right)^{\gamma} \left(\frac{\rho(x, y)}{r + \rho(x_0, x)}\right)^{\beta},$$
(2.5)

where the positive *C* is independent of *x* and *y*;

(iii)  $\int_M \varphi(x) d\mu(x) = 0.$ 

For any  $\varphi \in \mathcal{G}(x_0, r, \beta, \gamma)$ , endow  $\varphi$  with a norm by setting

$$\|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{G}(x_0,r,\beta,\gamma)} := \inf \{C > 0 : (i) \text{ and } (ii) \text{ hold} \}.$$
 (2.6)

Further properties of the test function class can be fund in [26, 27]. It is known that the space  $(\mathcal{G}(x, r, \beta, \gamma), \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{G}(x_0, r, \beta, \gamma)})$  is a Banach space that is invariant under the changes of *x* and *r*. Thus, we can fix a reference point  $x_0 \in M$  and denote  $\mathcal{G}(\beta, \gamma) := \mathcal{G}(x_0, 1, \beta, \gamma)$ . It is easy to see the embedding  $\mathcal{G}(\beta', \gamma) \subset \mathcal{G}(\beta, \gamma)$  holds for any  $\beta \leq \beta'$ .

Now for any  $\beta \in (0, \eta]$ , let  $\mathcal{G}(\beta, \gamma)$  be the completion of the space  $\mathcal{G}(\eta, \gamma)$  in the norm of  $\mathcal{G}(\beta, \gamma)$ . Then  $(\mathcal{G}(\beta, \gamma))'$  is defined to be the set of all *continuous linear functionals*  $\mathcal{L}$  on  $\mathcal{G}(\beta, \gamma)$  with the property that, for all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{G}(\beta, \gamma)$ ,

$$|\mathscr{L}(\varphi)| \lesssim \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{G}(\mathcal{B},\gamma)}^{\circ}.$$

The following proposition extends the wavelet expansion to the space of distributions.

**Proposition 2.7.** [26, Corollary 3.5] Let  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma \in (0, \eta)$ . Then the wavelet expansion (2.3) also holds for any  $f \in (\overset{\circ}{\mathcal{G}}(\beta, \gamma))'$ .

### 2.2 Homogeneous function spaces and their wavelet characterizations

The vanishing mean condition in Definition 2.3(i) indicates that the wavelets used in this paper are mother wavelets. As the mother wavelets characterize homogeneous function spaces (see [37, 42, 50]), we need the following definition of the homogenous version of the Lipschitz Besov space (cf. (1.8) and (1.9a)).

**Definition 2.8.** (i) For any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (0, \infty)$ , the homogeneous Lipschitz Besov space  $\dot{B}_{p,q}^s$  is defined to be

$$\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s} := \left\{ f \in L_{\text{loc}}^{p}(M) : \|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}} < \infty \right\},$$

where  $||f||_{\dot{B}^{s}_{n,a}}$  is defined as in (1.9a).

(ii) For any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (0, \infty)$ , the homogeneous Lipschitz Triebel-Lizorkin space  $\dot{F}_{p,q}^s$  is defined to be

$$\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s} := \left\{ f \in L_{\text{loc}}^{p}(M) : \|f\|_{\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s}} < \infty \right\}.$$

where

$$\|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s}_{p,q}} := \left\| \left[ \int_{0}^{\infty} r^{-sq} \left( \int_{B(\cdot,r)} |f(\cdot) - f(y)| \, d\mu(y) \right)^{q} \left. \frac{dr}{r} \right]^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}}$$
(2.7)

with the usual modification when  $q = \infty$ .

As the spaces  $\dot{B}_{p,q}^s$  and  $\dot{F}_{p,q}^s$  share many common properties, we will use the notation  $\dot{A}_{p,q}^s$  to denote either space  $\dot{B}_{p,q}^s$  or  $\dot{F}_{p,q}^s$  when there is no confusion. In particular, for any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (0, \infty)$ , it can be proved that  $(\dot{A}_{p,q}^s/C, \|\cdot\|_{\dot{A}_{p,q}^s})$  is a Banach space, where  $\dot{A}_{p,q}^s/C$  denotes the quotient space and *C* is the space of all constant functions on *M* (see [38, Propositions 3.1 and 3.2] and [49, Proposition 2.2]). Furthermore, it is easy to see that for all  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$B_{p,q}^s = L^p \cap \dot{B}_{p,q}^s.$$

For any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (0, \infty)$ , define the *inhomogeneous Triebel-Lizorkin space*  $F_{p,q}^s := L^p \cap \dot{F}_{p,q}^s$  endow with the norm

$$||f||_{F^s_{p,q}} := ||f||_{L^p} + ||f||_{\dot{F}^s_{p,q}}$$

For functions in the above homogeneous function spaces, its wavelet coefficients are usually belong to the following sequence spaces.

**Definition 2.9.** Let  $\delta \in (0, 1)$  and  $\{Q_{k,\alpha}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in \mathcal{I}_k}$  be a system of dyadic cubes as in Definition 2.2. For any  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , denote by  $\mathcal{J}_k = \mathcal{I}_{k+1} \setminus \mathcal{I}_k$ .

(i) For any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in [0, \infty)$ , the homogeneous Besov sequence space  $\dot{b}_{p,q}^s$  is defined to be the space of all sequences  $\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \subset \mathbb{R}$  satisfying

$$\left\|\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z},\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k}\right\|_{\dot{b}^s_{p,q}} := \left\{\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left[\sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k} \left(\mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \left|\lambda_{k,\alpha}\right|\right)^p\right]^{\frac{q}{p}}\right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} < \infty$$
(2.8)

with the usual modification when  $q = \infty$ .

(ii) For any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in [0, \infty)$ , the homogeneous Triebel-Lizorkin sequence space  $\dot{f}_{p,q}^s$  is defined to be the space of all sequences  $\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \subset \mathbb{R}$  satisfying

$$\left\|\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z},\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k}\right\|_{\dot{f}^s_{p,q}} := \left\|\left[\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\delta^{-ksq}\left(\sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k}\mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-\frac{1}{2}}\mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}}(\cdot)\left|\lambda_{k,\alpha}\right|\right)^q\right]^{\frac{1}{q}}\right\|_{L^p} < \infty$$
(2.9)

with the usual modification when  $q = \infty$ .

The next lemma collects some of the basic properties of the aforementioned spaces.

**Lemma 2.10.** Let  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma \in (0, \eta)$  with  $\eta \in (0, 1)$  being as in (2.2). Then

(i) for any  $s \in (0, 1)$  and  $q_1, q_2 \in (1, \infty]$  with  $q_1 \le q_2$ , then

$$\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q_{1}} \subset \dot{B}^{s}_{p,q_{2}};$$
 (2.10)

(ii) for any  $s \in (0, \gamma)$ ,

$$\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s} \subset (\overset{\circ}{\mathcal{G}}(\beta,\gamma))'; \tag{2.11}$$

(iii) for any  $s \in [0, \gamma)$  and  $\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha} \in \dot{b}_{p,q}^{s}$ , the series

$$\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k}\lambda_{k,\alpha}\psi_{k,\alpha}$$

converges in  $(\overset{\circ}{\mathcal{G}}(\beta,\gamma))'$ .

*Proof.* The assertion (iii) was proved in [25, Proposition 1.1], so that we need to prove (i) and (ii). We first show (i). By (1.9a), we know that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^s_{p,q}} \simeq \left\| \left\{ \delta^{-ks} \left[ \int_M \oint_{B(x,c\delta^k)} |f(x) - f(y)|^p \, d\mu(y) \, d\mu(x) \right]^{1/p} \right\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{l^q}$$

for any fixed c > 0. (i) then follows immediately from the increase property of the  $l^q$ -norm.

We now prove (ii). By applying (i), it suffices to show

$$\dot{B}^{s}_{p,\infty} \subset (\overset{\circ}{\mathcal{G}}(\beta,\gamma))'. \tag{2.12}$$

Indeed, let  $f \in \dot{B}_{p,\infty}^{s}$ . Then, for any  $g \in \overset{\circ}{\mathcal{G}}(\beta, \gamma)$ , by Definition 2.6, (**VD**) and  $s < \gamma$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{M} f(y)\varphi(y) \, d\mu(y) \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{M} \left( f(y) - \int_{B(x_{0},1)} f(x) \, d\mu(x) \right) \varphi(y) \, d\mu(y) \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\mu(B(x_{0},1))} \int_{B(x_{0},1)} \left( \int_{M} |f(y) - f(x)| \, |\varphi(y)| d\mu(y) \right) \, d\mu(x) \end{split}$$

JUN CAO AND ALEXANDER GRIGOR'YAN

$$\begin{split} &\lesssim \left\{ \frac{1}{\mu(B(x_{0},1))} \int_{B(x_{0},1)} \left[ \int_{M} \frac{|f(y) - f(x)|}{V_{1}(x_{0}) + V(x_{0},y)} \left( \frac{1}{1 + \rho(x_{0},y)} \right)^{\gamma} d\mu(y) \right]^{p} d\mu(x) \right\}^{1/p} \\ &\lesssim \left\{ \frac{1}{\mu(B(x_{0},1))} \int_{B(x_{0},1)} \left[ \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \delta^{j\gamma} \int_{\rho(y,x) < \delta^{-(j+1)}} |f(y) - f(x)| d\mu(y) \right]^{p} d\mu(x) \right\}^{1/p} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \delta^{j(\gamma-s)} \delta^{js} \left\{ \int_{M} \left[ \int_{\rho(y,x) < \delta^{-(j+1)}} |f(y) - f(x)| d\mu(y) \right]^{p} d\mu(x) \right\}^{1/p} \\ &\lesssim \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{js} \left\{ \int_{M} \left[ \int_{\rho(y,x) < \delta^{-(j+1)}} |f(y) - f(x)| d\mu(y) \right]^{p} d\mu(x) \right\}^{1/p} \\ &\lesssim \|f\|_{B^{s}_{p,\infty}}, \end{split}$$

which implies that (2.12) holds true. This finishes the proof of (ii) and hence Lemma 2.10.

We now state the first main result of this section that establishes the wavelet characterizations of the homogeneous Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces  $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}$ .

**Theorem 2.11.** Let  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (0, 1)$ . Assume  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  satisfies the condition **(VD)** and that  $\{\psi_{k,\alpha}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k}$  is a basis of wavelets as in Definition 2.3 with  $\eta \in (s, 1)$ . Then the following assertions hold:

(i) for any  $f \in \dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}$ , let

$$E(f) := \{ \langle f, \psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle \}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k}.$$
(2.13)

Then  $E(f) \in \dot{b}_{p,q}^s$  with

 $||E(f)||_{\dot{b}^{s}_{p,q}} \leq C ||f||_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}},$ 

where the positive constant C is independent of f;

(ii) for any  $\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z},\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k}\in\dot{b}_{p,q}^s$ , let

$$R(\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha}) := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \lambda_{k,\alpha} \psi_{k,\alpha}.$$
(2.14)

Then  $R(\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha}) \in \dot{B}_{p,q}^s$  with

$$\left\| R(\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha}) \right\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}} \leq C \left\| \{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha} \right\|_{\dot{b}^{s}_{p,q}}$$

where the positive constant *C* is independent of  $\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha}$ .

**Theorem 2.12.** Let  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (0, 1)$ . Assume  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  satisfies the condition **(VD)** and that  $\{\psi_{k,\alpha}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k}$  is a basis of wavelets as in Definition 2.3 with  $\eta \in (s, 1)$ . Then the following assertions hold:

(i) for any  $f \in \dot{F}_{p,q}^s$ , let E(f) be as in (2.13). Then  $E(f) \in \dot{f}_{p,q}^s$  with

$$||E(f)||_{\dot{f}^{s}_{p,a}} \leq C ||f||_{\dot{F}^{s}_{p,a}},$$

where the positive constant *C* is independent of *f*;

(ii) for any 
$$\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z},\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k} \in \dot{f}_{p,q}^s$$
, let  $R(\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha})$  be as in (2.14). Then  $R(\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha}) \in \dot{F}_{p,q}^s$  with  $\|R(\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha})\|_{\dot{F}_{p,q}^s} \leq C \|\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha}\|_{\dot{f}_{p,q}^s}$ ,

where the positive constant *C* is independent of  $\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha}$ .

Theorems 2.11 and 2.12 will be proved in Section 2.3. In the remainder of this subsection, we assume that the two theorems are true and consider their consequences.

**Remark 2.13.** (i) For any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$ ,  $s \in (0, 1)$  and  $f \in L^p_{loc}(M)$ , let

$$\|f\|_{\widetilde{B^{s}_{p,q}}} := \left\{ \int_{0}^{\infty} r^{-sq} \left[ \int_{M} \left( \int_{B(x,r)} |f(x) - f(y)| \, d\mu(y) \right)^{p} \, d\mu(x) \right]^{q/p} \, \frac{dr}{r} \right\}^{1/q} \tag{2.15}$$

with the usual modification when  $q = \infty$ . By the Hölder inequality, it is easy to see that

$$\|f\|_{\widetilde{B^{s}_{p,q}}} \le \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}}.$$
(2.16)

On the other hand, in the proof of Theorem 2.11 (see (2.23) below), we will prove that

$$\|E(f)\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}} \lesssim \|f\|_{\widetilde{B^{s}_{p,q}}}.$$
(2.17)

By Proposition 2.7 and Lemma 2.10(ii), we know that

$$R \circ E = I \tag{2.18}$$

on  $\dot{B}_{p,q}^s$ . This combined with Theorem 2.11(ii) implies that for any  $f \in \dot{B}_{p,q}^s$ ,

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}} \lesssim \|E(f)\|_{\dot{b}^{s}_{p,q}}$$

which together with (2.16) and (2.17) implies the following equivalence of norms:

$$\|f\|_{\widetilde{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}}} \simeq \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}}.$$
(2.19)

(ii) In view of Theorem 2.11, we can introduce the homogeneous Besov space  $\dot{B}_{p,q}^0$  with zero order smoothness. To be precise, for any  $p \in (1, \infty)$  and  $q \in (1, \infty]$ , let

$$\dot{B}_{p,q}^{0} := \left\{ f \in L_{\text{loc}}^{p}(M) : E(f) \in \dot{B}_{p,q}^{0} \right\},$$
(2.20)

where E(f) is defined as in (2.13). By the increase property of the  $l^q$ -norm in (2.8), it is easy to see that for any  $p \in (1, \infty)$  and  $q_1, q_2 \in (1, \infty]$  with  $q_1 \le q_2$ ,

$$\dot{B}^{0}_{p,q_{1}} \subset \dot{B}^{0}_{p,q_{2}},\tag{2.21}$$

which is a limiting case of Lemma 2.10(i).

Similarly, for any  $p \in (1, \infty)$  and  $q \in (1, \infty]$ , the homogeneous Triebel-Lizorkin space  $\dot{F}_{p,q}^0$  with zero smoothness is defined by

$$\dot{F}_{p,q}^{0} := \left\{ f \in L_{\text{loc}}^{p}(M) : E(f) \in \dot{F}_{p,q}^{0} \right\}.$$
(2.22)

It is easy too see that  $\dot{F}_{p,2}^0 = L^p$  for any  $p \in (1, \infty)$  due to the Littlewood-Paley square function characterization of  $L^p$  (see [26, Theorem 4.3]). These two kinds of spaces will be useful in the endpoint interpolation of Besov spaces (see the proof of Theorem 3.9 below).

**Corollary 2.14.** Let  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in [0, \infty)$ . Then

(i) 
$$\dot{B}^{s}_{p,\min\{p,q\}} \subset \dot{F}^{s}_{p,q} \subset \dot{B}^{s}_{p,\max\{p,q\}}$$
. In particular,  $\dot{B}^{s}_{p,p} = \dot{F}^{s}_{p,p}$ ;

(ii)  $\dot{b}_{p,\min\{p,q\}}^s \subset \dot{f}_{p,q}^s \subset \dot{b}_{p,\max\{p,q\}}^s$ . In particular,  $\dot{b}_{p,p}^s = \dot{f}_{p,p}^s$ .

*Proof.* The proof of Corollary 2.14 is similar to the corresponding result in the classical Euclidean space (see, for example, [47, Section 11.4 and Proposition 13.6]), the details being omitted.

### 2.3 Proofs of Theorems 2.11 and 2.12

*Proof of Theorem 2.11(i).* For any  $f \in \dot{B}_{p,q}^s$ , let E(f) be as in (2.13). As claimed in Remark 2.13, we only need to prove

$$\|E(f)\|_{\dot{b}^{s}_{p,q}} \lesssim \|f\|_{\widetilde{B^{s}_{p,q}}}$$

$$(2.23)$$

with  $||f||_{\widetilde{B^{s}_{p,q}}}$  as in (2.15). By (2.13) and (2.8), we know

$$\|E(f)\|_{b^{s}_{p,q}} = \left\{ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{2}} |\langle f, \psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle| \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$
(2.24)

We first estimate the term  $|\langle f, \psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle|$ . By Definition 2.3, we know for any  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k$  and  $x \in B(x_{k,\alpha}, 3\delta^k)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \langle f, \psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle \right| &= \left| \int_{M} \psi_{k,\alpha}(\mathbf{y}) \left( f(\mathbf{y}) - \int_{Q_{k,\alpha}} f \, d\mu \right) d\mu(\mathbf{y}) \right| \\ &\lesssim \left[ \mu(B(x_{k,\alpha}, \delta^{k})) \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{M} \exp\left\{ -\frac{\rho(\mathbf{y}, x_{k,\alpha})}{\delta^{k}} \right\} \left| f(\mathbf{y}) - \int_{Q_{k,\alpha}} f \, d\mu \right| d\mu(\mathbf{y}) \\ &\lesssim \left[ \mu(B(x_{k,\alpha}, \delta^{k})) \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \int_{S_{k-j}(B_{k,\alpha})} \exp\left\{ -\frac{\rho(\mathbf{y}, x_{k,\alpha})}{\delta^{k}} \right\} \left| f(\mathbf{y}) - \int_{Q_{k,\alpha}} f \, d\mu \right| d\mu(\mathbf{y}), \end{aligned}$$
(2.25)

where  $S_{k-j}(B_{k,\alpha}) := B(x_{k,\alpha}, \delta^{k-j}) \setminus B(x_{k,\alpha}, \delta^{k-j+1})$  for any  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $S_k(B_{k,\alpha}) := B(x_{k,\alpha}, \delta^k)$ . Thus by (2.25), **(VD)** and Definition 2.2(iii), we conclude that

$$\begin{split} \left| \langle f, \psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle \right| &\lesssim \left[ \mu(B(x_{k,\alpha}, \delta^k)) \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{ -\delta^{1-j} \right\} \frac{\mu(B(x_{k,\alpha}, \delta^{k-j}))}{\mu(Q_{k,\alpha})} \end{split}$$

$$\times \int_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \left( \int_{B(x_{k,\alpha}, \delta^{k-j})} |f(y) - f(x)| \ d\mu(y) \right) d\mu(x) \\ &\lesssim \left[ \mu(Q_{k,\alpha}) \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{ -\delta^{1-j} \right\} \delta^{-jd} \int_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \left( \int_{B(x_{k,\alpha}, \delta^{k-j})} |f(y) - f(x)| \ d\mu(y) \right) d\mu(x) \\ &=: \left[ \mu(Q_{k,\alpha}) \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{ -\delta^{1-j} \right\} \delta^{-jd} \operatorname{I}_{k,j}(f, Q_{k,\alpha}). \end{split}$$

$$(2.26)$$

Note that for any  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \left[\mu(Q_{k,\alpha})\right]^{\frac{1}{p}-1} \mathrm{I}_{k,j}(f,Q_{k,\alpha}) &= \left[\mu(Q_{k,\alpha})\right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \int_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \left( \int_{B(x_{k,\alpha},\delta^{k-j})} |f(y) - f(x)| \ d\mu(y) \right) d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \left[ \int_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \left( \int_{B(x_{k,\alpha},\delta^{k-j})} |f(y) - f(x)| \ d\mu(y) \right)^p \ d\mu(x) \right]^{\frac{1}{p}}, \end{split}$$

which combining (2.24), (2.26), (2.15) and Definition 2.2 implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \|E(f)\|_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{s}} \tag{2.27} \\ &\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} |\langle f, \psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle| \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{ -\delta^{1-j} \right\} \delta^{-jd} \left\{ \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_{k}} \int_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \left( \int_{B(x_{k,\alpha},\delta^{k-j})} |f(y) - f(x)| \ d\mu(y) \right)^{p} \ d\mu(x) \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{ -\delta^{1-j} \right\} \delta^{-jd} \left\{ \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_{k}} \int_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \left( \int_{B(x,4\delta^{k-j})} |f(y) - f(x)| \ d\mu(y) \right)^{p} \ d\mu(x) \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{ -\delta^{1-j} \right\} \delta^{-j(d+s)} \left\{ \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-(k-j)sq} \left[ \int_{M} \left( \int_{B(x,4\delta^{k-j})} |f(y) - f(x)| \ d\mu(y) \right)^{p} \ d\mu(x) \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\lesssim \||f||_{\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}}, \end{aligned}$$

where in the third inequality, we have used Definition 2.2(iii) and the fact that  $j \ge 0$ . This shows (2.23) and hence finishes the proof of Theorem 2.11(i).

To prove Theorem 2.11(ii), we need the following lemma.

**Lemma 2.15.** For any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$ ,  $s \in [0, \eta)$  and  $\beta, \gamma \in (0, \eta)$  with  $\eta$  as in (2.2). Let  $\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha} \in \dot{b}_{p,q}^s$  and  $f := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \lambda_{k,\alpha} \psi_{k,\alpha}$  converges in  $(\overset{\circ}{\mathcal{G}}(\beta, \gamma))'$ . Then  $f \in L^p_{\text{loc}}$ .

*Proof.* As  $f \in (\overset{\circ}{\mathcal{G}}(\beta, \gamma))'$ , by Definition 2.6(iii), we know that for any  $x_0 \in M$  and  $l_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

$$f = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{l_0-1} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \lambda_{k,\alpha} \left( \psi_{k,\alpha} - \psi_{k,\alpha}(x_0) \right) + \sum_{k=l_0}^{\infty} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \lambda_{k,\alpha} \psi_{k,\alpha} =: f_1 + f_2$$
(2.28)

in  $(\overset{\circ}{\mathcal{G}}(\beta,\gamma))'$ . Thus, to finish the proof of this lemma, we only need to show that for, any  $x_0 \in M$  and  $l_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

$$I_{1} := \left( \int_{B(x_{0},\delta^{l_{0}})} |f_{1}(x)|^{p} \ d\mu(x) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} < \infty$$
(2.29)

JUN CAO AND ALEXANDER GRIGOR'YAN

and

$$I_2 := \left( \int_{B(x_0, \delta^{l_0})} |f_2(x)|^p \ d\mu(x) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} < \infty.$$
(2.30)

We first prove (2.29). By (2.28), Definition 2.3 and (VD), we have

$$I_{1} \lesssim \left\{ \int_{B(x_{0},\delta^{l_{0}})} \left[ \sum_{k=-\infty}^{l_{0}-1} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(B(x_{k,\alpha},\delta^{k}))^{-\frac{1}{2}} \exp\left\{ -\frac{\rho(x,x_{k,\alpha})}{\delta^{k}} \right\} \left( \frac{\rho(x,x_{0})}{\delta^{k}} \right)^{\eta} \right]^{p} d\mu(x) \right\}^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{k=-\infty}^{l_{0}-1} \left\{ \int_{M} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-\frac{1}{2}} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)\eta} \exp\left\{ -\frac{\rho(x,x_{k,\alpha})}{\delta^{k}} \right\} \right]^{p} d\mu(x) \right\}^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

$$(2.31)$$

We now need the following pointwise estimate on the Hardy-Littlewood maximal function from [14, 15] (see also [49, Lemma 3.10]): for any  $x \in M$ ,

$$\sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-\frac{1}{2}} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)\eta} \exp\left\{ -\frac{\rho(x, x_{k,\alpha})}{\delta^{k}} \right\} \lesssim \mathcal{M}\left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-\frac{1}{2}} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)\eta} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right) (x), \quad (2.32)$$

where  $\mathcal{M}$  denotes the Hardy-Littlewood maximal function as in (1.16). Together with (2.31), the  $L^p$  boundedness of  $\mathcal{M}$  and the fact  $s < \eta$ , this implies that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I}_{1} &\leq \sum_{k=-\infty}^{l_{0}-1} \left\{ \int_{M} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-\frac{1}{2}} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)\eta} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}}(x) \right]^{p} d\mu(x) \right\}^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leq \sum_{k=-\infty}^{l_{0}-1} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)\eta} \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leq \sum_{k=-\infty}^{l_{0}-1} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)(\eta-s)} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)s} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leq \left\{ \sum_{k=-\infty}^{l_{0}-1} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)sq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{1/q} \\ &\leq \left\{ \sum_{k=-\infty}^{l_{0}-1} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)sq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{1/q} \\ &\leq \left\{ \sum_{k=-\infty}^{l_{0}-1} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)sq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{1/q} \\ &\leq \left\{ \sum_{k=-\infty}^{l_{0}-1} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)sq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{1/q} \\ &\leq \left\{ \sum_{k=-\infty}^{l_{0}-1} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)sq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{1/q} \\ &\leq \left\{ \sum_{k=-\infty}^{l_{0}-1} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)sq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{1/q} \\ &\leq \left\{ \sum_{k=-\infty}^{l_{0}-1} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)sq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{1/q} \\ &\leq \left\{ \sum_{k=-\infty}^{l_{0}-1} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)sq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{1/q} \\ &\leq \left\{ \sum_{k=-\infty}^{l_{0}-1} \left\{ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left| \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k} \left| \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left| \sum_{\alpha$$

which proves (2.29).

To prove (2.30), by an argument similar to that of (2.33), we see

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I}_{2} &\lesssim \sum_{k=l_{0}}^{\infty} \left\{ \int_{M} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(\mathcal{Q}_{k,\alpha})^{-\frac{1}{2}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{Q}_{k,\alpha}}(x) \right]^{p} d\mu(x) \right\}^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{k=l_{0}}^{\infty} \delta^{(k-l_{0})s} \delta^{-(k-l_{0})s} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(\mathcal{Q}_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{k=l_{0}}^{\infty} \delta^{(l_{0}-k)sq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(\mathcal{Q}_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{1/q} \lesssim \| \{\lambda_{k,\alpha} \|_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{s}} < \infty, \end{split}$$

which proves (2.30) and hence completes the proof of Lemma 2.15.

Now we prove Theorem 2.11(ii) using Lemma 2.15.

*Proof of Theorem 2.11(ii).* Let  $\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z},\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k} \in \dot{b}_{p,q}^s$  and  $f := R(\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha})$  be as in (2.14). By Lemmas 2.10(iii) and 2.15, we know that  $f \in (\overset{\circ}{\mathcal{G}}(\beta,\gamma))' \cap L^p_{loc}(M)$ . Thus, to finish the proof of Theorem 2.11(ii), we only need to show that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}} \lesssim \|\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha}\|_{\dot{b}^{s}_{p,q}}.$$
(2.34)

For any  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $x, y \in M$  satisfying  $\rho(x, y) < \delta^j$ , write

$$f = \sum_{k < j} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \lambda_{k,\alpha} \psi_{k,\alpha} + \sum_{k \ge j} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \lambda_{k,\alpha} \psi_{k,\alpha} =: f_1 + f_2.$$
(2.35)

Then, by Definition 2.3, the assumption  $\rho(x, y) < \delta^j$  and by (2.32), we have

$$\begin{split} |f_{1}(x) - f_{1}(y)| &\leq \sum_{k < j} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \left| \psi_{k,\alpha}(x) - \psi_{k,\alpha}(y) \right| \\ &\lesssim \sum_{k < j} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \exp\left\{ -\frac{\rho(x, x_{k,\alpha})}{\delta^{k}} \right\} \left( \frac{\rho(x, y)}{\delta^{k}} \right)^{\eta} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{k < j} \mathcal{M} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \delta^{(j-k)\eta} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right) (x). \end{split}$$

This implies that, for any  $x \in M$ ,

$$d_{j,p}(f_1)(x) := \left\{ \int_{B(x,\delta^j)} |f_1(x) - f_1(y)|^p \ d\mu(y) \right\}^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{k < j} \delta^{-(k-j)\eta} \mathcal{M}\left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \, \mu(\mathcal{Q}_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{Q}_{k,\alpha}} \right) (x).$$

$$(2.36)$$

By (1.9a), (2.36) and Young's convolution inequality (note that  $\{\delta^{j(\eta-s)}\}_{j>0} \in l^1$  as  $\eta > s$ ), we see

$$\|f_{1}\|_{\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}} \simeq \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| \delta^{-js} d_{j,p}(f_{1}) \right\|_{L^{p}}^{q} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

$$\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left[ \sum_{k < j} \delta^{-(k-j)(\eta-s)} \delta^{-ks} \left\| \mathcal{M} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right) \right\|_{L^{p}} \right]^{q} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

$$\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left[ \sum_{k < j} \delta^{-(k-j)(\eta-s)} \delta^{-ks} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right]^{q} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

$$\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \simeq \left\| \{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha} \right\|_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{s}}.$$

$$(2.37)$$

JUN CAO AND ALEXANDER GRIGOR'YAN

For  $f_2$ , we have

$$|f_2(x) - f_2(y)| \le |f_2(x)| + |f_2(y)|.$$
(2.38)

We first estimate  $|f_2(y)|$ . By (2.35), Definition 2.3, (VD) and (2.32), we obtain

$$|f_2(\mathbf{y})| \lesssim \sum_{k \ge j} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \exp\left\{ -\frac{\rho(\mathbf{y}, x_{k,\alpha})}{\delta^k} \right\} \lesssim \sum_{k \ge j} \mathcal{M}\left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right) (\mathbf{y}).$$

Thus, similar to (2.37), we have

$$\mathbf{I} := \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| \delta^{-js} \left( \int_{B(\cdot,\delta^{j})} |f_{2}(\mathbf{y})|^{p} d\mu(\mathbf{y}) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^{p}}^{q} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

$$\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left[ \sum_{k \geq j} \delta^{(k-j)s} \delta^{-ks} \left\| \mathcal{M} \circ \mathcal{M} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right) \right\|_{L^{p}} \right]^{q} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

$$\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left[ \sum_{k \geq j} \delta^{(k-j)s} \delta^{-ks} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{2}} \right)^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right]^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

$$\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{2}} \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

$$\approx \left\| \{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha} \right\|_{b^{s}_{p,q}}.$$

$$(2.39)$$

Similarly, we obtain

$$\mathbf{J} := \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| \delta^{-js} \left( \int_{B(\cdot, \delta^j)} |f_2(x)|^p \, d\mu(y) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^p}^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \lesssim \left\| \{\lambda_{k, \alpha}\}_{k, \alpha} \right\|_{\dot{b}^s_{p, q}}.$$
(2.40)

Combining (2.35) and (2.37) through (2.40), we conclude that (2.34) holds true. This finishes the proof of Theorem 2.11(ii).

We now prove Theorem 2.12.

*Proof of Theorem 2.12.* We first prove Theorem 2.12(i). Let  $f \in \dot{F}_{p,q}^s$  and E(f) be as in (2.13). By (2.9), we need to show that

$$\mathbf{I} := \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-\frac{1}{2}} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}}(\cdot) \left| \langle f, \psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle \right| \right)^q \right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^p} \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{F}^s_{p,q}}.$$
(2.41)

Similar to (2.25), we know that for any  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k$  and  $x \in Q_{k,\alpha}$ ,

$$\left|\langle f,\psi_{k,\alpha}\rangle\right| = \left|\int_{M}\psi_{k,\alpha}(y)\left(f(y) - f(x)\right)\,d\mu(y)\right| \tag{2.42}$$

$$\begin{split} &\lesssim \left[\mu(Q_{k,\alpha})\right]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{M} \exp\left\{-\frac{\rho(y, x_{k,\alpha})}{\delta^{k}}\right\} |f(y) - f(x)| \ d\mu(y) \\ &\lesssim \left[\mu(Q_{k,\alpha})\right]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \int_{S_{k-j}(B_{k,\alpha})} \exp\left\{-\frac{\rho(y, x_{k,\alpha})}{\delta^{k}}\right\} |f(y) - f(x)| \ d\mu(y) \\ &\lesssim \left[\mu(Q_{k,\alpha})\right]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{-\delta^{-j}\right\} \mu(B(x_{k,\alpha}, \delta^{k-j})) \ \int_{B(x_{k,\alpha}, \delta^{k-j})} |f(y) - f(x)| \ d\mu(y) \\ &\lesssim \left[\mu(Q_{k,\alpha})\right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{-\delta^{-j}\right\} \delta^{-jd} \ \int_{B(x, 4\delta^{k-j})} |f(y) - f(x)| \ d\mu(y) \\ &=: \left[\mu(Q_{k,\alpha})\right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{-\delta^{-j}\right\} \delta^{-jd} D_{j,k,\alpha}(f)(x). \end{split}$$

By (2.41) together with (2.42) and (2.7), we conclude

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I} &\lesssim \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-\frac{1}{2}} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}}(\cdot) \left[ \mu(Q_{k,\alpha}) \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{ -\delta^{-j} \right\} \delta^{-jd} D_{j,k,\alpha}(f)(\cdot) \right)^{q} \right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{ -\delta^{-j} \right\} \delta^{-j(d+s)} \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-(k-j)sq} \left( D_{j,k,\alpha}(f)(\cdot) \right)^{q} \right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \exp\left\{ -\delta^{-j} \right\} \delta^{-j(d+s)} \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-(k-j)sq} \left( \int_{B(\cdot,4\delta^{k-j})} |f(y) - f(\cdot)| \ d\mu(y) \right)^{q} \right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ &\lesssim ||f||_{F_{p,q}^{s}}, \end{split}$$

which implies that (2.41) holds true and hence completes the proof of Theorem 2.12(i).

We now prove Theorem 2.12(ii). For any  $\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z},\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k} \in \widehat{f}_{p,q}^s$ , let  $f := R(\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha})$  be as in (2.14). By Corollary 2.14(ii) and Lemma 2.15, we know that  $f \in (\widehat{\mathcal{G}}(\beta,\gamma))' \cap L^p_{\text{loc}}$ . Thus, to finish the proof of Theorem 2.12(ii), it suffices to prove that  $||f||_{F_{p,q}^s} \leq ||\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha}||_{f_{p,q}^s}$ , namely,

$$\mathbf{J} := \left\| \left[ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-jsq} \left( \int_{B(x,\delta^{j})} |f(\cdot) - f(y)| \, d\mu(y) \right)^{q} \right]^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}} \lesssim \|\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha}\|_{\dot{f}^{s}_{p,q}}.$$
(2.43)

By (2.14), write

$$f = \sum_{k < j} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \lambda_{k,\alpha} \psi_{k,\alpha} + \sum_{k < j} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \lambda_{k,\alpha} \psi_{k,\alpha} =: f_1 + f_2.$$
(2.44)

For  $f_1$ , by (2.36), we know that  $x \in M$ ,

$$d_{j,p}(f_1)(x) := \left\{ \int_{B(x,\delta^j)} |f_1(x) - f_1(y)|^p \ d\mu(y) \right\}^{\frac{1}{p}}$$
  
$$\lesssim \sum_{k < j} \delta^{-(k-j)\eta} \mathcal{M}\left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \, \mu(\mathcal{Q}_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{Q}_{k,\alpha}} \right)(x)$$

Combined with the Fefferman-Stein vector valued maximal inequality (see [19, Theorem 1.2]), this yields

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left[ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-jsq} \left( d_{j,p}(f_{1}) \right)^{q} \right]^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left[ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-jsq} \left( \sum_{k < j} \delta^{-(k-j)\eta} \mathcal{M} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right) \right)^{q} \right]^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left[ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left( \sum_{k < j} \delta^{-(k-j)(\eta-s)} \mathcal{M} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \delta^{-ksq} |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right) \right)^{q} \right]^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left( \mathcal{M} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \delta^{-ks} |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right) \right)^{q} \right]^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right)^{q} \right]^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right)^{q} \right]^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right)^{q} \right]^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right)^{q} \right]^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right)^{q} \right]^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right)^{q} \right]^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right)^{q} \right]^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} |\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right)^{q} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \|\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right)^{q} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \|\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \|\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \|\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \|\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \|\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \|\lambda_{k,\alpha}| \|\lambda_{$$

The estimates for  $f_2$  is similar.

1		
		_

### **3** Real and complex interpolations

In this section, we establish the real and complex interpolations of the homogeneous Lipschitztype function spaces and some of their inhomogeneous versions. Throughout this section, we assume that the underlying metric measure space  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  is unbounded and satisfy the condition **(VD)**.

We first in Section 3.1 review some basic facts and properties of interpolation; then in Section 3.2, we consider the interpolations of the homogeneous Lipschitz-type function spaces with smoothness parameter  $s \in (0, 1)$ . Finally, in Section 3.3, we extend the interpolations of Section 3.2 to the endpoint case s = 0 and also to some of their inhomogeneous versions.

### 3.1 Preliminaries on interpolation

Let  $(X_0, X_1)$  be a compatible couple of Banach spaces, namely, there exists a Hausdorff topological vector space Y such that for any  $i \in \{1, 2\}, X_i \subset Y$ . For any compatible Banach couple  $(X_0, X_1)$ , the sum  $X_0 + X_1$  is defined to the Banach space under the norm

$$||a||_{\mathbb{X}_0 + \mathbb{X}_1} := \inf \{ ||a_0||_{\mathbb{X}_0} + ||a_1||_{\mathbb{X}_1} : a = a_0 + a_1 \text{ with } a_0 \in \mathbb{X}_0, a_1 \in \mathbb{X}_1 \}.$$

For any  $a \in \mathbb{X}_0 + \mathbb{X}_1$  and  $t \in (0, \infty)$ , the *K*-functional of *f* is defined by

$$K(a, t; \mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_1) := \inf \{ \|a_0\|_{\mathbb{X}_0} + t \|a_1\|_{\mathbb{X}_1} : a = a_0 + a_1 \text{ with } a_0 \in \mathbb{X}_0, a_1 \in \mathbb{X}_1 \}.$$
(3.1)

Notice that  $K(a, t; X_0, X_1)$  is increase in *t*.

**Definition 3.1.** Let  $(\mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_1)$  be a compatible Banach couple and  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$ . The *real interpolation space*  $(\mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_1)_{\theta,q}$  is defined to be the space of all  $a \in \mathbb{X}_0 + \mathbb{X}_1$  such that

$$\|f\|_{(\mathbb{X}_0,\mathbb{X}_1)_{\theta,q}} := \left[\int_0^\infty \left(t^{-\theta} K(a,t;\mathbb{X}_0,\mathbb{X}_1)\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right]^{\frac{1}{q}}$$
(3.2)

with the usual modification when  $q = \infty$ .

Let

$$S_0 := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : \ 0 < \operatorname{Re} z < 1 \}$$
(3.3)

be an open strip in the complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$  and

$$S := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : 0 \le \operatorname{Re} z \le 1 \}$$
(3.4)

be its closure. Let  $\mathcal{A}_{(\mathbb{X}_0,\mathbb{X}_1)}$  be the set of all bounded analytic functions  $F : S_0 \to \mathbb{X}_0 + \mathbb{X}_1$ , which can be extended to continuous functions on S and satisfy that for any  $j \in \{0, 1\}$ , the function  $t \mapsto$  $F(j + it) : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{X}_j$  is bounded and continuous. For any  $F \in \mathcal{A}_{(\mathbb{X}_0,\mathbb{X}_1)}$ , endow with the norm

$$\|F\|_{\mathcal{A}_{(\mathbb{X}_{0},\mathbb{X}_{1})}} := \max\left\{\sup_{t\in\mathbb{R}}\|F(it)\|_{\mathbb{X}_{0}}, \sup_{t\in\mathbb{R}}\|F(1+it)\|_{\mathbb{X}_{1}}\right\}.$$
(3.5)

**Definition 3.2.** Let  $(X_0, X_1)$  be a compatible Banach couple and  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ . The *complex interpolation space*  $[X_0, X_1]_{\theta}$  is defined to be the space of all

$$a \in \mathcal{A}_{(\mathbb{X}_0,\mathbb{X}_1)}(\theta) := \{F(\theta) : F \in \mathcal{A}_{(\mathbb{X}_0,\mathbb{X}_1)}\}$$

endow with the norm

$$\|a\|_{[\mathbb{X}_0,\mathbb{X}_1]_{\theta}} := \inf \left\{ \|F\|_{\mathcal{A}_{(\mathbb{X}_0,\mathbb{X}_1)}} : F(\theta) = a \right\}.$$
(3.6)

The real and complex interpolations are the two most important interpolation methods in the literature (see [7, 44]). In particular, they satisfy the following interpolation property (see [7, Theorems 3.1.2 and 4.1.2]).

**Lemma 3.3.** Let  $(\mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_1)$  and  $(\mathbb{Y}_0, \mathbb{Y}_1)$  be two compatible couples of Banach spaces. Consider a bounded linear operator  $T : \mathbb{X}_j \to \mathbb{Y}_j$  for  $j \in \{0, 1\}$ . Then for any  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  and  $q \in (1, \infty]$ , T induces a bounded linear operator  $T_{\theta}$  satisfying

$$T_{\theta}: (\mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_1)_{\theta, q} \to (\mathbb{Y}_0, \mathbb{Y}_1)_{\theta, q}$$

and

$$T_{\theta}: [\mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_1]_{\theta} \to [\mathbb{Y}_0, \mathbb{Y}_1]_{\theta}$$

with the operator norm  $||T_{\theta}|| \leq ||T||_{\mathbb{X}_0 \to \mathbb{Y}_0}^{1-\theta} ||T||_{\mathbb{X}_1 \to \mathbb{Y}_1}^{\theta}$ .

Let  $(X_0, X_1)$  and  $(Y_0, Y_1)$  be two compatible couples of Banach spaces. We call that  $(Y_0, Y_1)$  is a *retract* of  $(X_0, X_1)$  if there exist two bounded linear operators such that

(i)  $E : \mathbb{Y}_i \to \mathbb{X}_i$  for  $j \in \{0, 1\}$ ;

- (ii)  $R: \mathbb{X}_j \to \mathbb{Y}_j$  for  $j \in \{0, 1\}$ ;
- (iii)  $R \circ E = I$  on  $\mathbb{Y}_j$  for  $j \in \{0, 1\}$ .

The following result on the retract of interpolation can be found in [44, p. 22].

**Lemma 3.4.** Let  $(\mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_1)$  and  $(\mathbb{Y}_0, \mathbb{Y}_1)$  be two compatible couples of Banach spaces. Assume that  $(\mathbb{Y}_0, \mathbb{Y}_1)$  is a retract of  $(\mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_1)$ . Then for any  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  and  $q \in (1, \infty]$ ,

$$(\mathbb{Y}_0, \mathbb{Y}_1)_{\theta, q} = R\left((\mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_1)_{\theta, q}\right)$$

and

$$[\mathbb{Y}_0, \mathbb{Y}_1]_{\theta} = R\left( [\mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_1]_{\theta} \right).$$

The advantage of Lemma 3.4 is that it provides an approach to reduce the interpolation of the spaces  $(\mathbb{Y}_0, \mathbb{Y}_1)$  to that of  $(\mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_1)$ , whose interpolation is usually easier to establish. One typical example of such  $\mathbb{X}$ -space is the following mixed norm Lebesgue space. To be precise, for any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in [0, \infty)$ , let

$$j_q^s\left(L_p\right) := \left\{\{f_k(\cdot)\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} : f_k(\cdot) \in L^p(M) \text{ and } \|\{f_k(\cdot)\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{l_q^s(L_p)} < \infty\right\},\$$

where

$$\|\{f_{k}(\cdot)\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{l_{q}^{s}(L_{p})} := \left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \|f_{k}(\cdot)\|_{L^{p}}^{q}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}$$
(3.7)

with  $\delta \in (0, 1)$ . Let

 $L_p(\dot{l}_q^s) := \left\{ \{ f_k(\cdot) \}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} : \| \{ f_k(\cdot) \}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \|_{L_p(\dot{l}_q^s)} < \infty \right\},\$ 

where

$$\|\{f_{k}(\cdot)\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L_{p}(\dot{I}_{q}^{s})} := \left\|\left\{\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\delta^{-ksq} |f_{k}(\cdot)|^{q}\right\}^{\frac{1}{q}}\right\|_{L^{p}}.$$
(3.8)

The following interpolation of mixed norm Lebesgue spaces can been found in [7, Chapter 5] (see also [44, Section 1.18]).

**Lemma 3.5.** Let  $p_0, p_1 \in (1, \infty), q_0, q_1 \in (1, \infty], s_0, s_1 \in [0, \infty)$  and  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ .

(i) For  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in [0, \infty)$  satisfying  $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1-\theta}{p_0} + \frac{\theta}{p_1}$ ,  $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1-\theta}{q_0} + \frac{\theta}{q_1}$  and  $s = (1-\theta)s_0 + \theta s_1$ , it holds

$$\left[\dot{l}_{q_0}^{s_0}\left(L_{p_0}\right), \dot{l}_{q_1}^{s_1}(L_{p_1})\right]_{\theta} = \dot{l}_q^s(L_p)$$
(3.9)

and

$$\left[L_{p_0}\left(\dot{l}_{q_0}^{s_0}\right), L_{p_1}\left(\dot{l}_{q_1}^{s_1}\right)\right]_{\theta} = L_p\left(\dot{l}_q^s\right). \tag{3.10}$$

(ii) If  $s_0 \neq s_1$ , then for any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in [0, \infty)$  satisfying  $s = (1 - \theta)s_0 + \theta s_1$ , it holds

$$\left(\dot{l}_{q_0}^{s_0}\left(L_p\right), \dot{l}_{q_1}^{s_1}(L_p)\right)_{\theta,q} = \dot{l}_q^s(L_p) \tag{3.11}$$

and

$$\left(L_{p}\left(\dot{l}_{q_{0}}^{s_{0}}\right), L_{p}\left(\dot{l}_{q_{1}}^{s_{1}}\right)\right)_{\theta,q} = \dot{l}_{q}^{s}\left(L_{p}\right).$$
(3.12)

### 3.2 Interpolations of Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces

Let  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  satisfy **(VD)**. The following two theorems give the real and complex interpolations of the homogeneous Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with  $s \in (0, 1)$ .

**Theorem 3.6.** Let  $p_0, p_1 \in (1, \infty), q_0, q_1 \in (1, \infty], s_0, s_1 \in (0, 1)$  and  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ . Then for any  $p \in (1, \infty), q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (0, 1)$  satisfying  $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1-\theta}{p_0} + \frac{\theta}{p_1}, \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1-\theta}{q_0} + \frac{\theta}{q_1}$  and  $s = (1-\theta)s_0 + \theta s_1$ ,

$$\left[\dot{B}_{p_{0},q_{0}}^{s_{0}},\dot{B}_{p_{1},q_{1}}^{s_{1}}\right]_{\theta}=\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}$$
(3.13)

and

$$\left[\dot{F}_{p_{0},q_{0}}^{s_{0}},\dot{F}_{p_{1},q_{1}}^{s_{1}}\right]_{\theta}=\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s}.$$
(3.14)

**Theorem 3.7.** Let  $q_0, q_1 \in (1, \infty]$ ,  $s_0, s_1 \in (0, 1)$  with  $s_0 \neq s_1$  and  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ . Then for any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (0, 1)$  satisfying  $s = (1 - \theta)s_0 + \theta s_1$ ,

$$\left(\dot{B}_{p,q_0}^{s_0}, \dot{B}_{p,q_1}^{s_1}\right)_{\theta,q} = \dot{B}_{p,q}^s \tag{3.15}$$

and

$$\left(\dot{F}_{p,q_0}^{s_0}, \dot{F}_{p,q_1}^{s_1}\right)_{\theta,q} = \dot{B}_{p,q}^s.$$
(3.16)

We prove Theorems 3.6 and 3.7 by using Lemma 3.4. To this end, we need the following retract operators. For any sequence  $\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z},\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k}\subset\mathbb{R}$  with  $\mathcal{J}_k$  as in (2.8), let

$$E\left(\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha}\right) := \{f_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$$

$$(3.17)$$

be a sequence of functions on M with

$$f_k := \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \lambda_{k,\alpha} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2},$$
(3.18)

where  $\{Q_{k,\alpha}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z},\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k}$  denotes the dyadic cubes as in Definition 2.2.

On the other hand, for any sequence of functions  $\{f_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$  in  $L^1_{loc}(M)$ , let

$$R(\{f_k\}_k) := \{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k}$$
(3.19)

be a sequence of numbers in  $\mathbb{R}$  with

$$\lambda_{k,\alpha} := \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \int_{Q_{k,\alpha}} f_k(x) \, d\mu(x).$$
(3.20)

**Lemma 3.8.** Let  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$ ,  $s \in (0, 1)$  and  $\widetilde{E}$ ,  $\widetilde{R}$  be respectively as in (3.17) and (3.19). *Then*,

- (i)  $\widetilde{E}: \dot{b}_{p,q}^s \to \dot{l}_q^s(L_p), \ \dot{f}_{p,q}^s \to L_p(\dot{l}_q^s) \ are \ bounded;$
- (ii)  $\widetilde{R}: \dot{l}_q^s(L_p) \to \dot{b}_{p,q}^s, L_p(\dot{l}_q^s) \to \dot{f}_{p,q}^s$  are bounded;
- (iii)  $\widetilde{R} \circ \widetilde{E} = I$  on  $\dot{b}_{p,q}^s$  and  $\dot{f}_{p,q}^s$ .

*Proof.* We first prove (iii). For any sequence of numbers  $\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z},\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k} \subset \mathbb{R}$ , by (3.18), (3.20) and Definition 2.2(ii), we have

$$\widetilde{R} \circ \widetilde{E} \left( \{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha} \right) = \widetilde{R} \left\{ \left\{ \sum_{\widetilde{\alpha} \in \mathcal{J}_k} \lambda_{k,\widetilde{\alpha}} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\widetilde{\alpha}}} \mu(Q_{k,\widetilde{\alpha}})^{-1/2} \right\}_k \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ \sum_{\widetilde{\alpha} \in \mathcal{J}_k} \lambda_{k,\widetilde{\alpha}} \int_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\widetilde{\alpha}}}(x) \, d\mu(x) \mu(Q_{k,\widetilde{\alpha}})^{-1/2} \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \right\}_{k,\alpha} = \{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha} \,,$$

which immediately implies that (iii) holds true.

Let us now prove (i). We first show that  $\widetilde{E}$ :  $\dot{b}_{p,q}^s \to \dot{l}_q^s(L_p)$  is bounded. Indeed, for any  $\{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha} \in \dot{b}_{p,q}^s$ , by (3.7), (3.17), (3.18) and Definition 2.2, we know

$$\begin{split} \left\| \widetilde{E} \left( \{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha} \right) \right\|_{l^s_q(L_p)} &= \left( \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left\| \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \lambda_{k,\alpha} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \right\|_{L_p}^q \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \left( \left| \lambda_{k,\alpha} \right| \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{2}} \right)^p \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \simeq \left\| \{\lambda_{k,\alpha}\}_{k,\alpha} \right\|_{\dot{b}^s_{p,q}}, \end{split}$$

which implies that  $\widetilde{E}$ :  $\dot{b}_{p,q}^s \to \dot{l}_q^s(L_p)$  is bounded. The proof of the boundedness of  $\widetilde{E}$ :  $\dot{f}_{p,q}^s \to L_p(\dot{l}_q^s)$  is similar, the details being omitted.

We now prove (ii). As in the proof of (i), we only prove one of the claimed boundedness. In particular, we will show that  $\widetilde{R}$ :  $L_p(l_q^s) \to \dot{f}_{p,q}^s$  is bounded. Indeed, for any  $\{f_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \in L_p(l_q^s)$ , by (2.9), (3.19), (3.20) and (3.7), we see

$$\begin{split} \left\| \widetilde{R} \left( \{f_k\}_k \right) \right\|_{\dot{f}^s_{p,q}} &\leq \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \left\| f_k \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right\|_{L^1} \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{-1/2} \right)^q \right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^p} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \left[ \int_{Q_{k,\alpha}} |f_k| \ d\mu(x) \right] \mathbf{1}_{Q_{k,\alpha}} \right)^q \right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^p} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} \left( \mathcal{M}(f_k) \right)^q \right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^p} \end{split}$$

$$\lesssim \left\| \left[ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-ksq} |f_k|^q \right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^p} \simeq \left\| \{f_k\}_k \right\|_{L_p(\dot{I}_q^s)}.$$

This implies that  $\widetilde{R}$ :  $L_p(\dot{l}_q^s) \to \dot{f}_{p,q}^s$  is bounded. The proof of the boundedness  $\widetilde{R}$ :  $\dot{l}_q^s(L_p) \to \dot{b}_{p,q}^s$  is similar. This finishes the proof of (ii).

Altogether, we finish the proof of Lemma 3.8.

With the help of Lemma 3.8, we now turn to the proof of Theorems 3.6 and 3.7.

*Proofs of Theorems 3.6 and 3.7.* Let  $p_0, p_1 \in (1, \infty), q_0, q_1 \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s_0, s_1 \in (0, 1)$ . Let *E* and *R* be respectively as in (2.13) and (2.14). Then by Theorem 2.11, Proposition 2.7 and Lemma 2.10(ii), we know that for  $j \in \{0, 1\}$ ,

- (i)  $E: \dot{B}_{p_j,q_j}^{s_j} \rightarrow \dot{b}_{p_j,q_j}^{s_j}$  is bounded;
- (ii)  $R: \dot{b}_{p_j,q_j}^{s_j} \rightarrow \dot{B}_{p_j,q_j}^{s_j}$  is bounded;
- (iii)  $R \circ E = I$  on  $\dot{B}_{p_i,q_i}^{s_j}$ .

Thus,  $(\dot{B}_{p_0,q_0}^{s_0}, \dot{B}_{p_1,q_1}^{s_1})$  is a retract of  $(\dot{b}_{p_0,q_0}^{s_0}, \dot{b}_{p_1,q_1}^{s_1})$  as described in Section 3.1. By Lemma 3.4, we know that for any  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  and  $q \in (1, \infty]$ ,

$$\left(\dot{B}_{p_{0},q_{0}}^{s_{0}},\dot{B}_{p_{1},q_{1}}^{s_{1}}\right)_{\theta,q} = R\left(\left(\dot{b}_{p_{0},q_{0}}^{s_{0}},\dot{b}_{p_{1},q_{1}}^{s_{1}}\right)_{\theta,q}\right)$$
(3.21)

and

$$\left[\dot{B}_{p_{0},q_{0}}^{s_{0}},\dot{B}_{p_{1},q_{1}}^{s_{1}}\right]_{\theta} = R\left(\left[\dot{b}_{p_{0},q_{0}}^{s_{0}},\dot{b}_{p_{1},q_{1}}^{s_{1}}\right]_{\theta}\right).$$
(3.22)

On the other hand, let  $\widetilde{E}$  and  $\widetilde{R}$  be respectively as in (3.17) and (3.19). By Lemmas 3.8 and 3.4, we know that for any  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  and  $q \in (1, \infty]$ ,

$$\left(\dot{b}_{p_0,q_0}^{s_0}, \dot{b}_{p_1,q_1}^{s_1}\right)_{\theta,q} = \widetilde{R}\left(\left(\dot{l}_{q_0}^{s_0}(L_{p_0}), \dot{l}_{q_1}^{s_1}(L_{p_1})\right)_{\theta,q}\right)$$
(3.23)

and

$$\left[\dot{b}_{p_{0},q_{0}}^{s_{0}},\dot{b}_{p_{1},q_{1}}^{s_{1}}\right]_{\theta} = \widetilde{R}\left(\left[\dot{l}_{q_{0}}^{s_{0}}(L^{p_{0}}),\dot{l}_{q_{1}}^{s_{1}}(L^{p_{1}})\right]_{\theta}\right).$$
(3.24)

Moreover, by Lemma 3.5, we find for any  $p_0$ ,  $p_1 \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q_0$ ,  $q_1 \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s_0$ ,  $s_1 \in (0, 1)$ ,

(a) if  $s_0 \neq s_1$ , then for any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (0, 1)$  satisfying  $s = (1 - \theta)s_0 + \theta s_1$ ,

$$\left(\dot{l}_{q_0}^{s_0}\left(L_p\right), \dot{l}_{q_1}^{s_1}(L_p)\right)_{\theta,q} = \dot{l}_q^s(L_p); \tag{3.25}$$

(b) for  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (0, 1)$  satisfying  $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1-\theta}{p_0} + \frac{\theta}{p_1}$ ,  $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1-\theta}{q_0} + \frac{\theta}{q_1}$  and  $s = (1-\theta)s_0 + \theta s_1$ ,

$$\left[\dot{l}_{q_0}^{s_0}\left(L_{p_0}\right), \dot{l}_{q_1}^{s_1}(L_{p_1})\right]_{\theta} = \dot{l}_q^s(L_p).$$
(3.26)

Note that  $R \circ \widetilde{R}(\dot{l}_q^s(L_p)) = R(\dot{b}_{p,q}^s) = \dot{B}_{p,q}^s$ . This combined with (3.21) through (3.26) implies that

$$\begin{split} \left(\dot{B}_{p_{0},q_{0}}^{s_{0}},\dot{B}_{p_{1},q_{1}}^{s_{1}}\right)_{\theta,q} &= \dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}, \\ \\ \left[\dot{B}_{p_{0},q_{0}}^{s_{0}},\dot{B}_{p_{1},q_{1}}^{s_{1}}\right]_{\theta} &= \dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}. \end{split}$$

and hence proves Theorems 3.6 and 3.7 for the Besov spaces.

The proofs of Theorem 3.6 and 3.7 for the Triebel-Lizorkin spaces are similar, we only need to replace the sequence spaces  $\dot{b}_{p,q}^s$  and  $\dot{l}_q^s(L_p)$  respectively by  $\dot{f}_{p,q}^s$  and  $L_p(\dot{l}_q^s)$ , the details being omitted. This finishes the proofs of Theorems 3.6 and 3.7.

#### **3.3** Interpolations at the endpoint case

The next theorem extends some of the interpolations of Section 3.2 to the case s = 1.

**Theorem 3.9.** Let  $p_0, p_1 \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q_1 \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s, \theta \in (0, 1)$ . Then,

(i) 
$$(L^{p_0}, \dot{B}^s_{p_0, q_1})_{\theta, q} = \dot{B}^{\theta s}_{p_0, q}$$
 for any  $q \in (1, \infty]$ ;

(ii)  $[L^{p_0}, \dot{F}^s_{p_1, q_1}]_{\theta} = \dot{F}^{\theta s}_{p, q}$  with  $p \in (1, \infty)$  satisfying  $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1-\theta}{p_0} + \frac{\theta}{p_1}$  and  $q \in (1, \infty]$  satisfying  $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1-\theta}{2} + \frac{\theta}{q_1}$ .

Before proving Theorem 3.9, we need the following wavelet characterization of the Lebesgue space  $L^{p}(M)$  from [26, Theorem 4.3].

**Lemma 3.10** ([26]). Suppose  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma \in (0, \eta)$  and  $p \in (1, \infty)$ . Then for any  $f \in L^p(M)$ ,

$$\|f\|_{L^p} \simeq \left\|\left\{\langle f, \psi_{k,\alpha}\rangle\right\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k}\right\|_{\dot{f}_{p,2}^0}$$

where the implicit constants are independent of f.

We now turn to the proof of Theorem 3.9.

*Proof of Theorem 3.9.* Observe that (ii) follows immediately from Lemma 3.10 and an argument similar to the proof of (3.14) in Theorem 3.6. Thus, it suffices to prove (i). To simply the notation we set  $p_0 = p$  in the remainder of the proof. We divide the proof into three steps.

**Step I:** we first show that for any  $\tilde{q} \in (\max\{2, q_1\}, \infty]$  (here we take  $\tilde{q} = \infty$  if  $q_1 = \infty$ ),

$$\left(L^{p}, \dot{B}^{s}_{p,\widetilde{q}}\right)_{\theta,q} \subset \dot{B}^{s\theta}_{p,q}.$$
(3.27)

Indeed, for any  $f \in (L^p, \dot{B}^s_{p,\tilde{q}})_{\theta,q} \subset L^p + \dot{B}^s_{p,\tilde{q}} \subset L^p_{\text{loc}}$ . Let  $f = f_0 + f_1$  be an arbitrary decomposition with  $f_0 \in L^p$  and  $f_1 \in \dot{B}^s_{p,\tilde{q}}$ . Assume first  $q < \infty$ . By Theorem 2.11, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s\theta}_{p,q}}^{q} &\lesssim \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{-\theta sq} \left( E_{p}(f_{0},t) \right)^{q} \frac{dt}{t} + \|f_{1}\|_{B^{s\theta}_{p,q}}^{q} \end{aligned} \tag{3.28}$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-k\theta sq} \left( E_{p}(f_{0},\delta^{k}) \right)^{q} + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-k\theta sq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \left| \langle f_{1},\psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle \right| \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{q}{p}}, \end{aligned}$$

where, for any  $t \in (0, \infty)$  and  $g \in L^p_{\text{loc}}$ ,

$$E_p(g,t) := \left( \int_M \int_{B(x,t)} |g(x) - g(y)|^p \ d\mu(y) d\mu(x) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

As  $p \in (1, \infty)$ , it is easy to see

$$E_p(g,t) \leq \|g\|_{L^p}.$$

This implies that

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-k\theta sq} \left( E_p(f_0, \delta^k) \right)^q \lesssim \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-k\theta sq} \left\| f_0 \right\|_{L^p}^q.$$
(3.29)

On the other hand, by Lemma 2.10 and Theorem 2.11 again, we find

$$\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-k\theta sq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k} \left( \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \left| \langle f_1, \psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle \right| \right)^p \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ \lesssim \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-k(\theta-1)sq} \left\{ \delta^{-ks} \left[ \sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k} \left( \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \left| \langle f_1, \psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle \right| \right)^p \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\}^q \\ \lesssim \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-k(\theta-1)sq} \left\{ \delta^{-ks} \left[ \sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_k} \left( \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \left| \langle f_1, \psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle \right| \right)^p \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\}^q$$

which combined with (3.28) and (3.29) implies that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s\theta}_{p,q}}^q \lesssim \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-k\theta sq} \left[ \|f_0\|_{L^p} + \delta^{ks} \|f_1\|_{\dot{B}^s_{p,\widetilde{q}}} \right]^q.$$

By (3.1), (3.2) and the arbitrariness of the decomposition  $f = f_0 + f_1$ , we conclude that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s\theta}_{p,q}}^q \lesssim \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-k\theta sq} K^q(f, \delta^{ks}; L^p, \dot{B}^s_{p,\widetilde{q}}) \simeq \int_0^\infty t^{-\theta q} K^q(f, t; L^p, \dot{B}^s_{p,\widetilde{q}}) \frac{dt}{t} \simeq \|f\|_{(L^p, \dot{B}^s_{p,\widetilde{q}})_{\theta,q}}^q,$$

which proves (3.27) for  $q < \infty$ . The case  $q = \infty$  follows from a similar argument with a minor modification on the norm  $||f||_{\dot{B}_{p,\infty}^{s\theta}}$ . **Step II:** we show that for any  $1 < r < \min\{2, p, q\}$ ,

$$\dot{B}^{\theta_s}_{p,q} \subset \left(\dot{B}^0_{p,r}, \dot{B}^s_{p,r}\right)_{\theta,q},\tag{3.30}$$

where  $\dot{B}_{p,r}^0$  is as in (2.20). Indeed, for any  $f \in \dot{B}_{p,q}^{\theta s}$ , write

$$f = \sum_{k>j} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \langle f, \psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle \right) \psi_{k,\alpha} + \sum_{k \le j} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \langle f, \psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle \right) \psi_{k,\alpha} =: f_0 + f_1,$$
(3.31)

where  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  will be determined later.

By Theorem 2.11, we have

$$\|f_0\|_{\dot{B}^0_{p,r}}^r \lesssim \sum_{k=j+1}^{\infty} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \left( \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \left| \langle f, \psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle \right| \right)^p \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} =: \sum_{k=j+1}^{\infty} \xi_k^r.$$
(3.32)

By the Hölder inequality and the assumption that  $f \in \dot{B}_{p,q}^{\theta s}$ , we know that  $||f_0||_{\dot{B}_{p,r}^0}^r < \infty$  and hence  $f_0 \in \dot{B}^0_{p,r}$ . Similarly, we have

$$\|f_1\|_{\dot{B}^s_{p,r}}^r \lesssim \sum_{k=-\infty}^j \delta^{-ksr} \left[ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}_k} \left( \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \left| \langle f, \psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle \right| \right)^p \right]^{\frac{r}{p}} =: \sum_{k=-\infty}^j \delta^{-ksr} \xi_k^r$$
(3.33)

and  $f_1 \in \dot{B}^s_{p,r}$ . Thus the decomposition in (3.31) is a decomposition of f in  $\dot{B}^0_{p,r} + \dot{B}^s_{p,r}$ . Combining (3.1), (3.32) with (3.33), we find

$$K(f,\delta^{js};\dot{B}^{0}_{p,r},\dot{B}^{s}_{p,r}) \lesssim \left( \|f_{0}\|^{r}_{\dot{B}^{0}_{p,r}} + \delta^{jsr} \|f_{1}\|^{r}_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,r}} \right)^{\frac{1}{r}} \lesssim \left( \sum_{k=j+1}^{\infty} \xi_{k}^{r} + \delta^{jsr} \sum_{k=-\infty}^{j} \delta^{-ksr} \xi_{k}^{r} \right)^{\frac{1}{r}}.$$

This implies that

$$I := \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{-\theta q} K^{q} \left( f, t; \dot{B}_{p,r}^{0}, \dot{B}_{p,r}^{s} \right) \frac{dt}{t}$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-j\theta sq} \left( \sum_{k=j+1}^{\infty} \xi_{k}^{r} + \delta^{jsr} \sum_{k=-\infty}^{j} \delta^{-ksr} \xi_{k}^{r} \right)^{\frac{q}{r}}$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-j\theta sq} \left( \sum_{k=j+1}^{\infty} \xi_{k}^{r} \right)^{\frac{q}{r}} + \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{j(1-\theta)sq} \left( \sum_{k=-\infty}^{j} \delta^{-ksr} \xi_{k}^{r} \right)^{\frac{q}{r}} =: I_{1} + I_{2}.$$
(3.34)

For I<sub>1</sub>, let  $0 < \alpha_2 < \theta s < \alpha_1 < s$  and  $\sigma > r$  satisfying  $\frac{r}{q} + \frac{r}{\sigma} = 1$ . We find

$$I_{1} \lesssim \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-j\theta sq} \left( \sum_{k=j+1}^{\infty} \delta^{k\alpha_{2}r} \delta^{-k\alpha_{2}r} \xi_{k}^{r} \right)^{q} \lesssim \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-j\theta sq} \left( \sum_{k=j+1}^{\infty} \delta^{-k\alpha_{2}q} \xi_{k}^{q} \right) \left( \sum_{k=j+1}^{\infty} \delta^{k\alpha_{2}\sigma} \right)^{q}$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-jq(\theta s - \alpha_{2})} \left( \sum_{k=j+1}^{\infty} \delta^{-k\alpha_{2}q} \xi_{k}^{q} \right) \simeq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{k=j+1}^{\infty} \delta^{-(j-k)q(\theta s - \alpha_{2})} \delta^{-k\theta sq} \xi_{k}^{q}$$

$$\simeq \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{j=-\infty}^{k-1} \left( \delta^{-(j-k)q(\theta s - \alpha_{2})} \right) \delta^{-k\theta sq} \xi_{k}^{q} \simeq \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-k\theta sq} \xi_{k}^{q}.$$

$$(3.35)$$

For  $I_2$ , we have

$$I_{2} \lesssim \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{jsq(1-\theta)} \left[ \sum_{k=-\infty}^{j} \delta^{-k(s-\alpha_{1})r} \delta^{-k\alpha_{1}r} \xi_{k}^{r} \right]^{\frac{q}{r}}$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{jsq(1-\theta)} \left[ \sum_{k=-\infty}^{j} \delta^{-k\alpha_{1}q} \xi_{k}^{q} \right] \left[ \sum_{k=-\infty}^{j} \delta^{-k(s-\alpha_{1})\sigma} \right]^{\frac{q}{\sigma}}$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{jq[s(1-\theta)-s+\alpha_{1}]} \left[ \sum_{k=-\infty}^{j} \delta^{-k\alpha_{1}q} \xi_{k}^{q} \right]$$

$$(3.36)$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left[ \sum_{j=k}^{\infty} \delta^{(j-k)q[s(1-\theta)-s+\alpha_1]} \right] \delta^{-k\theta s q} \xi_k^q \simeq \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-k\theta s q} \xi_k^q$$

Combining (3.33) through (3.36) and Theorem 2.11, we conclude that

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{(\dot{B}^{0}_{p,r},\dot{B}^{s}_{p,r})_{\theta,q}} &= \left\{ \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{-\theta q} K^{q} \left(f,t;\dot{B}^{0}_{p,r},\dot{B}^{s}_{p,r}\right) \frac{dt}{t} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} = \mathbf{I}^{1/q} \\ &\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-k\theta sq} \xi_{k}^{q} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \simeq \left\{ \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \delta^{-k\theta sq} \left[ \sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{J}_{k}} \left( \mu(Q_{k,\alpha})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \left| \langle f,\psi_{k,\alpha} \rangle \right| \right)^{p} \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \simeq \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{\theta s}_{p,r}} \,. \end{split}$$

This proves (3.30).

**Step III:** We finally prove (i). Let  $1 < r < \min\{2, p, q\}$  be as in Step II. By (2.21) and Corollary 2.14, we have

$$\dot{B}^{0}_{p,r} \subset \dot{B}^{0}_{p,\min\{p,2\}} \subset \dot{F}^{0}_{p,2} = L^{p}.$$

This combined with Steps I and II implies that

$$\dot{B}_{p,q}^{\theta s} \subset \left(\dot{B}_{p,r}^{0}, \dot{B}_{p,r}^{s}\right)_{\theta,q} \subset \left(L^{p}, \dot{B}_{p,r}^{s}\right)_{\theta,q} \subset \left(L^{p}, \dot{B}_{p,\widetilde{q}}^{s}\right)_{\theta,q} \subset \dot{B}_{p,q}^{\theta s},$$

which completes the proof of Theorem 3.9.

Based on Theorem 3.9 and Corollary 2.14, we immediately obtain the following endpoint real interpolation of the homogeneous Triebel-Lizorkin spaces.

**Corollary 3.11.** *Let*  $p \in (1, \infty)$ *,*  $q_1 \in (1, \infty]$  *and*  $s \in (0, 1)$ *. Then, for any*  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  *and*  $q \in (1, \infty]$ *,* 

$$\left(L^p, \dot{F}^s_{p,q_1}\right)_{\theta,q} = \dot{F}^{\theta s}_{p,q}.$$

The following theorem establishes the endpoint real interpolation of the inhomogeneous spaces.

**Theorem 3.12.** Let  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q_1 \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (0, 1)$ . Then for any  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  and  $q \in (1, \infty]$ ,

- (i)  $(L^p, B^s_{p,q_1})_{\theta,q} = B^{\theta s}_{p,q};$
- (ii)  $\left(L^p, F^s_{p,q_1}\right)_{\theta,q} = B^{\theta s}_{p,q}$ .

For the proof of Theorem 3.12, we need the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.13.** Let  $p \in (1, \infty)$  and  $\mathbb{X} \subset L^p_{loc}(M)$  be a Banach space satisfying that  $(L^p, \mathbb{X} \cap L^p)$  is a compatible Banach couple. Then for any  $t \in (0, \infty)$  and  $f \in L^p$ ,

$$\min\{1,t\}||f||_{L^p} + K(f,t;L^p,\mathbb{X}) \simeq K(f,t;L^p,\mathbb{X} \cap L^p)$$

29

*Proof.* We prove this lemma using the idea from the proof of [18, Theorem 4.2]. Let  $f \in L^p(M)$ . By (3.1), it is easy to see that  $K(f, t; L^p, \mathbb{X}) \leq K(f, t; L^p, \mathbb{X} \cap L^p)$ . Moreover, as  $L^p + (\mathbb{X} \cap L^p) \subset L^p$ , we have

$$\min\{1,t\} \|f\|_{L^p} \leq \min\{1,t\} \|f\|_{L^p + (\mathbb{X} \cap L^p)} \leq K(f,t;L^p, \mathbb{X} \cap L^p),$$

which implies that

$$\min\{1, t\} \|f\|_{L^p} + K(f, t; L^p, \mathbb{X}) \leq K(f, t; L^p, \mathbb{X} \cap L^p).$$
(3.37)

We now prove the opposite inequality. By the definition of K-functional, it is easy to see that

$$K(f,t;L^p,\mathbb{X}\cap L^p) \le ||f||_{L^p}.$$

Thus, to finish the proof, we only need to show that for any  $t \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$K(f,t;L^{p}, \mathbb{X} \cap L^{p}) \leq K(f,t;L^{p}, \mathbb{X}) + t \|f\|_{L^{p}}.$$
(3.38)

Indeed, for any  $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$  small enough, let  $f = f_0 + f_1$  be a decomposition satisfying  $f_0 \in L^p$ ,  $f_1 \in \mathbb{X}$ and

$$||f_0||_{L^p} + t ||f_1||_{\mathbb{X}} < K(f, t; L^p, \mathbb{X}) + \epsilon/2.$$

Since  $f \in L^p$ , we see that  $f_1 \in \mathbb{X} \cap L^p$ . Since  $t \in (0, 1)$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} K(f,t;L^{p},\mathbb{X}\cap L^{p}) &\leq \|f_{0}\|_{L^{p}} + t\left(\|f_{1}\|_{L^{p}} + \|f_{1}\|_{\mathbb{X}}\right) \\ &< K(f,t;L^{p},\mathbb{X}) + t\|f_{1}\|_{L^{p}} + \epsilon/2 \\ &< K(f,t;L^{p},\mathbb{X}) + \|f_{0}\|_{L^{p}} + t\|f\|_{L^{p}} + \epsilon/2 < 2K(f,t;L^{p},\mathbb{X}) + t\|f\|_{L^{p}} + \epsilon. \end{split}$$

Since  $\epsilon$  is arbitrary, we obtain (3.38) and finish the proof.

*Proof of Theorem 3.12.* Without loss of generality, we only prove (i). The inclusion  $(L^p, B^s_{p,q_1})_{\theta,q} \subset B^{\theta s}_{p,q}$  is an easy consequence of Theorem 3.9(i) and the facts  $B^s_{p,q_1} = \dot{B}^s_{p,q_1} \cap L^p$  and  $B^{\theta s}_{p,q} = \dot{B}^{\theta s}_{p,q} \cap L^p$ . To prove the converse inclusion, let  $f \in L^p(M)$ , by (3.2), Lemma 3.13 and Theorem 3.9, we have

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{(L^{p},B^{s}_{p,q_{1}})_{\theta,q}} &= \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(t^{-\theta}K(f,t;L^{p},\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q_{1}}\cap L^{p})\right)^{q}\frac{dt}{t}\right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\lesssim \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(t^{-\theta}K(f,t;L^{p},\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q_{1}})\right)^{q}\frac{dt}{t}\right]^{\frac{1}{q}} + \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(t^{-\theta}\min\{1,t\}\|f\|_{L^{p}}\right)^{q}\frac{dt}{t}\right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\lesssim \|f\|_{(L^{p},\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q_{1}})_{\theta,q}} + \|f\|_{L^{p}} \simeq \|f\|_{B^{\theta_{s}}_{p,q_{1}}}, \end{split}$$

which implies the inclusion  $B_{p,q}^{\theta s} \subset (L^p, B_{p,q_1}^s)_{\theta,q}$  and hence (i). By (i) and Corollary 2.14(i), we conclude that (ii) is also satisfied, which finishes the proof of Theorem 3.12.

# **4 Proofs of main results**

In this section, we prove the main results of this paper. To that end, we first prove in Section 4.1 a Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev-Kato estimates for parameters in  $\mathcal{P}(\Theta)$  as on Fig. 3; then in Section 4.2, we prove Theorems 1.2 and 1.3.

#### 4.1 The Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev-Kato estimates

Let  $\Theta \in (0, 1)$  be as in (1.7) and  $\mathcal{P}(\Theta)$  be as in (1.12) (see also Figure 3). The following proposition gives a Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev-Kato estimates for parameters p and s in  $\mathcal{P}(\Theta)$ .

**Proposition 4.1.** Let  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  be a metric measure space satisfying the condition (**GB**). Let  $U := (\frac{1}{p}, s)$  and  $N := (\frac{1}{q}, r) \in \mathcal{P}(\Theta)$  as in (1.12). Assume that  $\nu \in (0, \pi)$  and  $\varphi \in \mathscr{E}(\Sigma_{\nu})$  is in the extended Dunford-Riesz class and satisfies the following estimate

$$\left\|z^{\alpha(U,N)}\varphi\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{\nu})} < \infty$$

with

$$\alpha(U,N) := \frac{r-s}{2} + \frac{d}{2} \left( \frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q} \right), \tag{4.1}$$

where d denotes the Hausdorff dimension of M as in (1.5). Then for any  $f \in \dot{F}_{n,2}^{s}$ ,

$$\|\varphi(\mathcal{L})f\|_{\dot{F}^{r}_{q,2}} \lesssim \left\| z^{\alpha(U,N)} \varphi \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s}_{p,2}}.$$

$$(4.2)$$

To prove Proposition 4.1, we need the following result on the characterization on the domain of the fractional power of the generator  $\mathcal{L}$ .

**Lemma 4.2.** Let  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  be a metric measure space satisfying (**GB**). Then the following is true.

(i) For any  $s \in (0, 1)$ , we have  $\operatorname{dom}_2(\mathcal{L}^{s/2}) = F_{2,2}^s$ . Moreover, for all  $f \in \operatorname{dom}_2(\mathcal{L}^{s/2})$ ,

 $\left\| \mathcal{L}^{s/2} f \right\|_{L^2} \simeq \| f \|_{\dot{F}^s_{2,2}}.$ 

(ii) For any  $s \in (0, \Theta)$  and  $p \in (1, \infty)$ , we have  $\operatorname{dom}_p(\mathcal{L}^{s/2}) = F_{p,2}^s$ . Moreover, for all  $f \in \operatorname{dom}_p(\mathcal{L}^{s/2})$ ,

$$\left\|\mathcal{L}^{s/2}f\right\|_{L^p} \simeq \|f\|_{\dot{F}^s_{n^2}}.$$

*Proof.* The assertion (i) was proved in [20, Corollary 5.5]. Thus, it suffices to prove (ii). As  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  satisfies the conditions **(VD)** and **(GB)**, we have

$$\operatorname{dom}_p(\mathcal{L}^{s/2}) = F_{p,2}^{s,\mathcal{L}}$$

and

$$\left\|\mathcal{L}^{s/2}f\right\|_{L^p} \simeq \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s,\mathcal{L}}_{p,2}}$$

where  $\dot{F}_{p,2}^{s,\mathcal{L}}$  and  $F_{p,2}^{s,\mathcal{L}} = L^p \cap \dot{F}_{p,2}^{s,\mathcal{L}}$  denote respectively the homogeneous and inhomogeneous heat Triebel-Lizorkin spaces (see [33, Theorem 7.8] and [17, Theorem 6.5]). Moreover, by using an argument similar to the proof of [11, Theorem 3.1], we obtain that, for any  $s \in (0, \Theta)$  and  $p, q \in (1, \infty)$ ,

$$\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}} = \dot{F}_{p,q}^{s},$$
(4.3)

which implies (ii). Note that although in [11, Theorem 3.1], (4.3) is proved only in the setting of the Euclidean space, the proof can be extended easily to the present setting by using (**VD**) and (**GB**).  $\Box$ 

We also need the following result of the boundedness of the Riesz potential  $\mathcal{L}^{-\alpha/2}$  from  $L^p$  to  $L^q$ .

**Lemma 4.3.** Let  $(M, \rho, \mu)$  be a metric measure space satisfying the condition (**GB**). Then for any  $1 and <math>\alpha \in (0, d)$  satisfying  $\frac{\alpha}{d} = \frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}$ , the Riesz potential  $\mathcal{L}^{-\alpha/2}$  is bounded from  $L^p$  to  $L^q$ .

Proof. By the functional calculus for the Riesz potential (see [24, Corollary 3.3.6]), we know that

$$\mathcal{L}^{-\alpha/2} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha/2)} \int_0^\infty t^{\alpha/2} e^{-t\mathcal{L}} \frac{dt}{t},$$

which combined with the condition (**GB**) implies that  $\mathcal{L}^{-\alpha/2}$  has an integral kernel  $K(\cdot, \cdot)$  satisfying that for any  $x, y \in M$ ,

$$|K(x,y)| \leq \left[\rho(x,y)\right]^{\alpha-d}$$

This implies that  $\mathcal{L}^{-\alpha/2}$  is a generalized fractional integral on *M* defined as in [39]. By [39, Corollary 2.5], we know that  $\mathcal{L}^{-\alpha/2}$  is bounded from  $L^p$  to  $L^q$ , which completes the proof of Lemma 4.3.

We now turn to the proof of Proposition 4.1.

*Proof of Proposition 4.1.* Let  $U := (\frac{1}{p}, s), N := (\frac{1}{q}, r) \in \mathcal{P}(\Theta)$  be as as in (1.12) and m(U, N) the slop of the vector  $\overrightarrow{UN}$ . We consider three cases based on the size of |m(U, N)|.

**Case I:**  $|m(U,N)| = \infty$ . In this case, we always have p = q and hence  $\alpha(U,N) = \frac{1}{2}(r-s)$ . If further p = q = 2, then for any  $f \in \dot{F}_{2,2}^s$ , by Lemma 4.2(i), we know

$$\|\varphi(\mathcal{L})f\|_{\dot{F}^{r}_{2,2}} \simeq \left\|\mathcal{L}^{r/2}\varphi(\mathcal{L})f\right\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \left\|z^{\frac{1}{2}(r-s)}\varphi\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \left\|\mathcal{L}^{s/2}f\right\|_{L^{2}} \simeq \left\|z^{\frac{1}{2}(r-s)}\varphi\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s}_{2,2}}, \tag{4.4}$$

which verifies (4.2) in this subcase.

On the other hand, if  $\max\{r, s\} < \Theta$ , then by Lemma 4.2(ii) and the bounded  $H_{\infty}$  functional calculus, we have for any  $f \in \dot{F}_{n,2}^{s}$ ,

$$\|\varphi(\mathcal{L})f\|_{\dot{F}^{r}_{p,2}} \simeq \left\|\mathcal{L}^{r/2}\varphi(\mathcal{L})f\right\|_{L^{p}} \lesssim \left\|z^{\frac{1}{2}(r-s)}\varphi\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s}_{p,2}},\tag{4.5}$$

which shows that (4.2) also holds in this subcase.

If  $p = q \neq 2$  and  $\max\{r, s\} \ge \Theta$ , without loss of generality, we assume that  $|r - s| < \Theta$ . Otherwise, we may decompose the vector  $\overrightarrow{UN}$  into a finite number of vectors with equally small length  $\le \Theta$  and then use the above estimates by composition (see the proof of [11, Theorem 4.3] in the Euclidean

case). As  $|r - s| < \Theta$ , we know that there exist  $U_0 := (\frac{1}{p_0}, s_0), N_0 := (\frac{1}{p_0}, r_0), U_1 := (\frac{1}{2}, s_1), N_1 := (\frac{1}{2}, r_1) \in \mathcal{P}(\Theta)$  and  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  satisfying

$$\begin{cases} \max\{s_0, r_0\} < \Theta, \\ r_0 - s_0 = r - s = r_1 - s_1, \\ \theta = \frac{r - r_0}{r_1 - r_0} = \frac{s - s_0}{s_1 - s_0}. \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

Note that by the definition of  $\mathcal{P}(\Theta)$  as illustrated on Figure 3, such points always exist. By Theorem 3.6 and (4.6), we find

$$\begin{cases} \dot{F}_{p,2}^{r} = \left[ \dot{F}_{p_{0},2}^{r_{0}}, \dot{F}_{2,2}^{r_{1}} \right]_{\theta}, \\ \dot{F}_{p,2}^{s} = \left[ \dot{F}_{p_{0},2}^{s_{0}}, \dot{F}_{2,2}^{s_{1}} \right]_{\theta}. \end{cases}$$
(4.7)

Moreover, (4.6) implies that  $\overrightarrow{U_0N_0}$  and  $\overrightarrow{U_1N_1}$  belong to the above sub-cases which have already been dealt with. This yields that

$$\begin{cases} \|\varphi(\mathcal{L})f\|_{\dot{F}^{r_{0}}_{p_{0},2}} \lesssim \left\|z^{\frac{1}{2}(r-s)}\varphi\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s_{0}}_{p_{0},2}}, \\ \|\varphi(\mathcal{L})f\|_{\dot{F}^{r_{1}}_{2,2}} \lesssim \left\|z^{\frac{1}{2}(r-s)}\varphi\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s_{1}}_{2,2}}, \end{cases}$$

which together with (4.6), (4.7) and Lemma 3.3 shows that for any  $f \in \dot{F}_{p,2}^{s}$ ,

$$\|\varphi(\mathcal{L})f\|_{\dot{F}^{r}_{p_{0},2}} \lesssim \left\|z^{\frac{1}{2}(r-s)}\varphi\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s}_{p_{0},2}}$$

Thus (4.2) holds under Case I.

**Case II:** |m(U,N)| = 0. In this case, we always have r = s and hence  $\alpha(U,N) = \frac{d}{2}(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q})$ . Now consider two subcases: a)  $r = s \in (0, \Theta)$ ; b)  $r = s \in [\Theta, 1)$ .

For the case II-a), by Lemmas 4.2(ii) and 4.3, we have that for any  $f \in \dot{F}_{n,2}^r$ ,

$$\begin{split} \|\varphi(\mathcal{L})f\|_{\dot{F}^{r}_{q,2}} &\lesssim \left\|\mathcal{L}^{r/2}\varphi(\mathcal{L})f\right\|_{L^{q}} \\ &\lesssim \left\|z^{\frac{d}{2}(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})}\varphi\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \left\|\mathcal{L}^{-\frac{d}{2}(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})}\mathcal{L}^{r/2}\varphi(\mathcal{L})f\right\|_{L^{q}} \lesssim \left\|z^{\frac{d}{2}(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})}\varphi\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{r}_{p,s}} \end{split}$$

which verifies (4.2) under Case II-a).

For the case II-b), let  $U_0 := (\frac{1}{p}, r_0)$  and  $N_0 := (\frac{1}{q}, r_0)$  with  $r_0 \in (0, \Theta)$ . It is easy to see that  $\overrightarrow{MM_0}$  and  $\overrightarrow{N_0N}$  belong to Case I, while  $\overrightarrow{M_0N_0}$  belong to Case II-a). This implies that for any  $f \in \dot{F}_{p,2}^r$ 

$$\begin{split} \|\varphi(\mathcal{L})f\|_{\dot{F}_{q,2}^{r}} &\simeq \left\|\mathcal{L}^{\frac{1}{2}(r_{0}-r)}\varphi(\mathcal{L})\mathcal{L}^{-\frac{1}{2}(r_{0}-r)}f\right\|_{\dot{F}_{q,2}^{r}} \lesssim \left\|\varphi(\mathcal{L})\mathcal{L}^{-\frac{1}{2}(r_{0}-r)}f\right\|_{\dot{F}_{q,2}^{r_{0}}} \\ &\lesssim \left\|z^{\frac{d}{2}(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})}\varphi\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \left\|\mathcal{L}^{-\frac{1}{2}(r_{0}-r)}f\right\|_{\dot{F}_{p,2}^{r_{0}}} \lesssim \left\|z^{\frac{d}{2}(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})}\varphi\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \|f\|_{\dot{F}_{p,2}^{r_{0}}}, \end{split}$$

which implies (4.2) under Case II-b) and hence Case II.

The **Case III:**  $|m(U,N)| \in (0,\infty)$ . In this case, let  $U_0 := (\frac{1}{q}, s)$ . By the fact  $\overrightarrow{UN} = \overrightarrow{UU_0} + \overrightarrow{U_0N}$ , we know that (4.2) follows from a composition argument similar to that used in Case II-b), the details being omitted. This finishes the proof of Proposition 4.1.

**Corollary 4.4.** Let  $(\frac{1}{p}, s) \in \mathcal{P}(\Theta)$ . Then dom<sub>p</sub>( $\mathcal{L}^{s/2}) = F_{p,2}^{s}$ .

*Proof.* For any  $(\frac{1}{p}, s) \in \mathcal{P}(\Theta)$ , let  $U := (\frac{1}{p}, 0), N := (\frac{1}{p}, s), \varphi(z) := z^{-s/2}$  and  $f \in \text{dom}_p(\mathcal{L}^{s/2})$ . By the fact  $\mathcal{L}^{s/2}f \in L^p = \dot{F}_{p,2}^0$  and Proposition 4.1, we know that  $||f||_{\dot{F}_{p,2}^s} = \left\|\varphi(\mathcal{L})\mathcal{L}^{s/2}f\right\|_{\dot{F}_{p,2}^s} \lesssim \|\mathcal{L}^{s/2}f\|_{L^p}$ . This combined with (1.15) and the fact  $F_{p,2}^s = L^p \cap \dot{F}_{p,2}^s$  shows that

$$||f||_{F^s_{p,2}} \leq ||f||_{\mathrm{dom}_p(\mathcal{L}^{s/2})},$$

which implies that inclusion dom<sub>p</sub>( $\mathcal{L}^{s/2}$ )  $\subset F^s_{p,2}$ . On the other hand, for any  $f \in \dot{F}^s_{p,2}$ , let  $\widetilde{U} := (\frac{1}{p}, s)$ ,  $\widetilde{N} := (\frac{1}{p}, 0)$  and  $\widetilde{\varphi}(z) := z^{s/2}$ . By Proposition 4.1 again, we find

$$\left\|\mathcal{L}^{s/2}f\right\|_{L^p} \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{F}^s_{p,2}}$$

which implies the converse inclusion  $F_{p,2}^s \subset \text{dom}_p(\mathcal{L}^{s/2})$  and hence finishes the proof of Corollary 4.4.

### 4.2 Proofs of Theorems 1.2 and 1.3

We now prove Theorem 1.2.

*Proof of Theorem 1.2.* For any  $(\frac{1}{p}, s) \in \mathcal{P}(\Theta)$  and  $q \in (1, \infty]$ , let  $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$  small enough such that  $(\frac{1}{p}, s + \epsilon) \in \mathcal{P}(\Theta)$ . As  $\mathcal{P}(\Theta)$  is open, we know that such  $\epsilon$  exists (see Figure 3). By Corollary 4.4, we

$$\operatorname{dom}_p(\mathcal{L}^{(s+\epsilon)/2}) = F_{p,2}^{s+\epsilon}.$$
(4.8)

Moreover, from [24, Chapter 6], it follows that there exists  $\theta = \frac{s}{s+\epsilon} \in (0, 1)$  so that

$$\left(L^{p}, \operatorname{dom}_{p}(\mathcal{L}^{(s+\epsilon)/2})\right)_{\theta,q} = B^{s,\mathcal{L}}_{p,q}.$$
(4.9)

On the other hand, as  $\theta = \frac{s}{s+\epsilon}$ , by Theorem 3.12, we see

$$\left(L^p, F^{s+\epsilon}_{p,2}\right)_{\theta,q} = B^s_{p,q}.$$
(4.10)

Combining (4.8) through (4.10), we conclude that

$$B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}}=B_{p,q}^{s},$$

which completes the proof of Theorem 1.2.

Finally we prove Theorem 1.3.

*Proof of Theorem 1.3.* For any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (0, 1)$ , by [22, Theorem 1.5(a)], we know that

$$B_{p,q}^s \subset B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}}.\tag{4.11}$$

We now turn to the proof of the converse inclusion. From [24, Chapter 6], it follows that

$$B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}} = \left(L^p, \operatorname{dom}_p(\mathcal{L}^{1/2})\right)_{s,q}$$

This together with (**DF**) and (3.2) implies that for any  $f \in B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}}$ ,

$$\|f\|_{B^{s,\mathcal{L}}_{p,q}} \simeq \left\{ \int_0^\infty t^{-sq} K^q(f,t;L^p,B^1_{p,\infty}) \frac{dt}{t} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$
(4.12)

On the other hand, let

$$E_p(f,t) := \left\{ \int_M \int_{B(x,t)} |f(x) - f(y)|^p \ d\mu(y) \ d\mu(x) \right\}^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$
(4.13)

For any decomposition  $f = f_0 + f_1$  with  $f_0 \in L^p$  and  $f_1 \in B^1_{p,\infty}$ , it follows from (VD), that  $E_p(f_0, t) \leq ||f_0||_{L^p}$  and

$$\mathbb{E}_{p}(f_{1},t) \leq t \sup_{t>0} \left\{ t^{-1} \left[ \int_{M} \int_{B(x,t)} |f_{1}(x) - f_{1}(y)|^{p} d\mu(y) d\mu(x) \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \leq t ||f_{1}||_{B^{1}_{p,\infty}}.$$

By this, (4.13) and the arbitrariness of the decomposition  $f = f_0 + f_1$ , we conclude that, for any  $t \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$\mathbf{E}_p(f,t) \leq K(f,t;L^p,B^1_{p,\infty}),$$

which together with (4.12) yields

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}} \simeq \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} t^{-sq} E^{q}_{p}(f,t) \frac{dt}{t}\right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \lesssim \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} t^{-sq} K^{q}(f,t;L^{p},B^{1}_{p,\infty}) \frac{dt}{t}\right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \simeq \|f\|_{B^{s,\mathcal{L}}_{p,q}}.$$

This implies the inclusion  $B_{p,q}^{s,\mathcal{L}} \subset B_{p,q}^s$  and hence finishes the proof of Theorem 1.3.

## References

- P. Alonso-Ruiz, F. Baudoin, L. Chen, L. Rogers, N. Shanmugalingam, and A. Teplyaev. Besov class via heat semigroup on dirichlet spaces i: Sobolev type inequalities. *arXiv:1811.04267v3*, 2018.
- [2] P. Alonso-Ruiz, F. Baudoin, L. Chen, L. Rogers, N. Shanmugalingam, and A. Teplyaev. Besov class via heat semigroup on dirichlet spaces ii: Bv functions and gaussian heat kernel estimates. arXiv:1811.11010v2, 2019.
- [3] P. Alonso-Ruiz, F. Baudoin, L. Chen, L. Rogers, N. Shanmugalingam, and A. A. Teplyaev. Besov class via heat semigroup on dirichlet spaces iii: Bv functions and sub-gaussian heat kernel estimates. arXiv:1903.10078v1, 2019.
- [4] N. Aronszajn and K. T. Smith. Theory of Bessel potentials. I. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 11:385–475, 1961.

- [5] P. Auscher. On necessary and sufficient conditions for  $L^p$ -estimates of Riesz transforms associated to elliptic operators on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and related estimates. *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 186(871):xviii+75, 2007.
- [6] P. Auscher and T. Hytönen. Orthonormal bases of regular wavelets in spaces of homogeneous type. *Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal.*, 34(2):266–296, 2013.
- [7] J. Bergh and J. Löfström. *Interpolation spaces. An introduction*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1976. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, No. 223.
- [8] O. V. Besov. On some families of functional spaces. Imbedding and extension theorems. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR*, 126:1163–1165, 1959.
- [9] H.-Q. Bui, T. A. Bui, and X. T. Duong. Weighted besov and triebel–lizorkin spaces associated to operators. *arXiv:1809.02795v1*, 2018.
- [10] H.-Q. Bui, X. T. Duong, and L. Yan. Calderón reproducing formulas and new Besov spaces associated with operators. Adv. Math., 229(4):2449–2502, 2012.
- [11] J. Cao and A. Grigor'yan. Heat kernels and besov spaces associated with second order divergence form elliptic operators. *Submitted*, 2019.
- [12] L. Chen, T. Coulhon, J. Feneuil, and E. Russ. Riesz transform for  $1 \le p \le 2$  without Gaussian heat kernel bound. J. Geom. Anal., 27(2):1489–1514, 2017.
- [13] M. Christ. A T(b) theorem with remarks on analytic capacity and the Cauchy integral. Colloq. Math., 60/61(2):601–628, 1990.
- [14] D. Deng and Y. Han. *Harmonic analysis on spaces of homogeneous type*, volume 1966 of *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2009. With a preface by Yves Meyer.
- [15] M. Frazier and B. Jawerth. A discrete transform and decompositions of distribution spaces. J. Funct. Anal., 93(1):34–170, 1990.
- [16] M. Fukushima, Y. Oshima, and M. Takeda. *Dirichlet forms and symmetric Markov processes*, volume 19 of *De Gruyter Studies in Mathematics*. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, extended edition, 2011.
- [17] A. G. Georgiadis, G. Kerkyacharian, G. Kyriazis, and P. Petrushev. Homogeneous Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces associated to non-negative self-adjoint operators. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 449(2):1382–1412, 2017.
- [18] A. Gogatishvili, P. Koskela, and N. Shanmugalingam. Interpolation properties of Besov spaces defined on metric spaces. *Math. Nachr.*, 283(2):215–231, 2010.
- [19] L. Grafakos, L. Liu, and D. Yang. Vector-valued singular integrals and maximal functions on spaces of homogeneous type. *Math. Scand.*, 104(2):296–310, 2009.
- [20] A. Grigor'yan. Heat kernels and function theory on metric measure spaces. In *Heat kernels and analysis on manifolds, graphs, and metric spaces (Paris, 2002)*, volume 338 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 143–172. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2003.

- [21] A. Grigor'yan, J. Hu, and K.-S. Lau. Heat kernels on metric-measure spaces and an application to semi-linear elliptic equations. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 355:2065–2095, 2003.
- [22] A. Grigor'yan and L. Liu. Heat kernel and Lipschitz-Besov spaces. Forum Math., 27(6):3567– 3613, 2015.
- [23] A. Grigor'yan and A. Telcs. Two-sided estimates of heat kernels on metric measure spaces. *Ann. Probab.*, 40(3):1212–1284, 2012.
- [24] M. Haase. *The functional calculus for sectorial operators*, volume 169 of *Operator Theory: Advances and Applications*. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2006.
- [25] Y. Han, J. Li, and C. Tan. Besov spaces via wavelets on metric spaces endowed with doubling measure, singular integral, and the *T*1 type theorem. *Math. Methods Appl. Sci.*, 40(10):3580– 3598, 2017.
- [26] Y. Han, J. Li, and L. A. Ward. Hardy space theory on spaces of homogeneous type via orthonormal wavelet bases. *Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal.*, 45(1):120–169, 2018.
- [27] Y. Han, D. Müller, and D. Yang. A theory of Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces on metric measure spaces modeled on Carnot-Carathéodory spaces. *Abstr. Appl. Anal.*, pages Art. ID 893409, 250, 2008.
- [28] G. Hu. Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces associated with non-negative self-adjoint operators. *J. Math. Anal. Appl.*, 411(2):753–772, 2014.
- [29] J. Hu and M. Zähle. Potential spaces on fractals. Studia Math., 170(3):259–281, 2005.
- [30] T. Hytönen and A. Kairema. Systems of dyadic cubes in a doubling metric space. *Colloq. Math.*, 126(1):1–33, 2012.
- [31] T. Hytönen and O. Tapiola. Almost Lipschitz-continuous wavelets in metric spaces via a new randomization of dyadic cubes. *J. Approx. Theory*, 185:12–30, 2014.
- [32] A. Jonsson. Brownian motion on fractals and function spaces. Math. Z., 222(3):495-504, 1996.
- [33] G. Kerkyacharian and P. Petrushev. Heat kernel based decomposition of spaces of distributions in the framework of Dirichlet spaces. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 367(1):121–189, 2015.
- [34] T. Kumagai. Function spaces and stochastic processes on fractals. In *Fractal geometry and stochastics III*, volume 57 of *Progr. Probab.*, pages 221–234. Birkhäuser, Basel, 2004.
- [35] P. Kunstmann and A. Ullmann. *R<sub>s</sub>*-sectorial operators and generalized Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. *J. Fourier Anal. Appl.*, 20(1):135–185, 2014.
- [36] L. Liu, D. Yang, and W. Yuan. Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces associated with heat kernels. *Collect. Math.*, 67(2):247–310, 2016.
- [37] Y. Meyer. Wavelets and operators, volume 37 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992. Translated from the 1990 French original by D. H. Salinger.

- [38] D. Müller and D. Yang. A difference characterization of Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces on RD-spaces. *Forum Math.*, 21(2):259–298, 2009.
- [39] E. Nakai. On generalized fractional integrals in the Orlicz spaces on spaces of homogeneous type. *Sci. Math. Jpn.*, 54(3):473–487, 2001.
- [40] K. Pietruska-Pałuba. On function spaces related to fractional diffusions on *d*-sets. *Stochastics Stochastics Rep.*, 70(3-4):153–164, 2000.
- [41] K. Pietruska-Pałuba. Heat kernel characterisation of Besov-Lipschitz spaces on metric measure spaces. *Manuscripta Math.*, 131(1-2):199–214, 2010.
- [42] Y. Sawano. *Theory of Besov spaces*, volume 56 of *Developments in Mathematics*. Springer, Singapore, 2018.
- [43] R. S. Strichartz. Function spaces on fractals. J. Funct. Anal., 198(1):43-83, 2003.
- [44] H. Triebel. *Interpolation theory, function spaces, differential operators*. VEB Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften, Berlin, 1978.
- [45] H. Triebel. *Theory of function spaces*. *II*, volume 84 of *Monographs in Mathematics*. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1992.
- [46] H. Triebel. *Theory of function spaces*. Modern Birkhäuser Classics. Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2010. Reprint of 1983 edition [MR0730762], Also published in 1983 by Birkhäuser Verlag [MR0781540].
- [47] H. Triebel. Fractals and spectra. Modern Birkhäuser Classics. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2011. Related to Fourier analysis and function spaces.
- [48] D. Yang. Besov spaces on spaces of homogeneous type and fractals. *Studia Math.*, 156(1):15–30, 2003.
- [49] D. Yang and Y. Lin. Spaces of Lipschitz type on metric spaces and their applications. Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc. (2), 47(3):709–752, 2004.
- [50] W. Yuan, W. Sickel, and D. Yang. *Morrey and Campanato meet Besov, Lizorkin and Triebel*, volume 2005 of *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2010.

Jun Cao

Department of Applied Mathematics, Zhejiang University of Technology, Hangzhou 310023, People's Republic of China

*E-mail:* caojun1860@zjut.edu.cn

Alexander Grigor'yan

Department of Mathematics, University of Bielefeld, 33501 Bielefeld, Germany *E-mail:* grigor@math.uni-bielefeld.de